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OVERVIEW OF THE 13 MONTHS ENDED 30™ APRIL 2019

Vast Resources plc (Vast' or lhe "Group’) has reposilioned the business to focus resources on two key mining
gpportunities in Romania and Zimbabwe with the intention of starting production a1 these mines in the current financial
year. These opportumtues comprise the Baita Pla| Polymetallic Mine ( BPPMW’ ) in Romania, and the Group's expected
diamand concession In Zimbabwe. This establishes the platform to support Vast's strategic objective to expand its
footprnt in these jurisdictions.

In reposifioning the business, the Group has divested its 25.01% stake in fis Zimbabwean ‘gold operations, reduced
debt, strengthened its management team, and directed resources exclusively to ‘placing its Key Romania and
Zimbabwean assets into prodiction.

The Group was awarded the Baita licence on 15" Oclober 2018 but was unable to draw on Tranche B of the Mercuria,
prepayment facility in order to fund capital expenditure programs at BPPM and the Manaila Polymetallic Mine ( MPM).
The objective of these programs was to restart production at BPPM -and to improve operational efficiency at MPM.
Consequently, the Group is well advanced in the procass of arranging new funding which it is prioritising for BPPM
and its diamond concession given the shon lead times expected 10 generate free operational cashflow, and has placed
MPM on care and mainienance in expéctation of a second funding round at a later stage.

Financial

. US$ 8.6 million gain on disposal of Zimbabwean gold operations:

. USS 21.4 million reduction in the carrying amounts of loans and borrowings to US$ 5.5 million (2018: US$ 27
miltion}

. Total revenue, including operations that were discontinued in April 2019, increased to US$ 34.7 million (2018:
US$ 30.7 million).
Revenue from continuing operations increased to US$ 3.4 mitlion (2018: US$ 3.1 million)
Romanian- operatuons continued ta be a net cash absorber given a delay in financing the required capital
expenditure to place BPPM.into produciion and to improve profitability at MPM,

. Cash balance at the period end of US$ 0.569 million (2018: US$ 1.3 million).

Operational Development

- Baita Plai Associatian Licence executed on 15" October 2018; giving the Group the right to mine at BPPM.

. 1,72_‘5vand 242 tonnes of copper and zinc concent_réte respeclively produced at MPM from April 2018 to
December'2018, atL which paint MPM was placed on care and maintenance.

. 29,41% economic interest acquired in the Blueberry Polymetallic Gold project in Romania which has raised
US$ 1 million to meet exploration costs.

. Hiring of key management and technical personnet for the Group's Zimbabwe diamond opporiunity.

. The Chiadzwa Community Diamond Concession Joint Venture was signed post period end.

Funding
Equity:
Fundraising share issues during thie year (gfoss proceeds before cost of issue);
US$ £ Shares Issued Issued to
124,338 91,351 18,270103 Exercise of warrants
7.804519  '5987.332 2,313,540,760 lIssued to investors
985,929 769451  488,073476 lIssued to convertible security investor

8914786 6848134 2,810884329




Fundraising share issues post period end {gross proceeds before cost of issu):
Announced Uss £ Shares Issued  Issued to
30 May 1,136,646 900,000 775,862,068 Issued to investors
-8 August 795,268 655,000 595,.454.545 Issued to investors

Total 1,931,914 1,556,000 1,371,316,613

Debt

. US$ 3.1 million was repaid to Sub-Sahara Goldia Investments:
. US$ 20.6 million was disposed of as part of the sale ‘and resiructuring of Vast's Zimbabwe operations.

Management

. Appountment of Nicholas Hatch as Non-executive Director an 9™ May 2018.

. Appomtment of Mark Mabhudhu as specialist adviser 1o and thén Executive Director of Vast’s diamond division
on 6" July 2018

. Appointment of Andrew Hall as Head of Comparate Development and Investor Relatioris on. 1# December 2018,

. Resignation of Carl Kindingér as Group CFO on 10" February 2019:

. Appointment of Paul Fletcher as Group CFO on 11% February 2019,

Political

. Continued improved business environment in Zimbabwe
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-continued care and maintenance until such time that BPPM was funded, and new funding arranged for MPM that was
better suited (o its investment needs and exploration polentiat. Revenues increased 10.8% to US$ 3.432 million (2018:

US§ 3.098 mitlion).

As highlighted last year, a program of drilling undertaken in 2017 has proven the potential of opening a second open-
pit mine at the Cariibaba section of MPM. A JORC compliant Resource statement confirmed a Measured, Indicated
and inferred mineral Resource of 4.6 million tonnes suitable for open-pit mmmg (3.6 million tonnes Measured and
Indicated). Underground mineral Resources in the Measured and Indicated category was determined at 0.399 million
“tonnes. The |mphed open pit fife is 11 years based on open pit and underground Measured and Indicated Resources
at a raie of 30,000 tonnes per month. MPM also has significant undergiound exploration potential which would be
transformative and would require additional investmsnt beyond those planned for the Carhbaba open pit extension’
.and riew plant facility, For these reasoris, the eommercial opportunily is potentially much larger and wiill require a
revised funding and investment strategy.

Blueberry Polymetallic Gold Project (‘Blueberry’) (29.41% effective interest).

The Group acquired an effective 29.41% economic interest in Blueberry through EMA Resources Ltd (EMAY in 2
brown field perimeter located at Baia del Aries in the "Golden Quadnlateral of Western Romama on which historic work
has demonstrated prospeciivity for gold and po!ymetalhc minerals. The Group is undertaking exploration on the
perimeter with a view to establishing a JORC Resource sufficient to justify an independent IPO.

The following exploration activities were undertaken af the Blueberry prospeci:

« Surface geologicat mapping.

«  Archival data searches for information relating to the Baia.de Aries polymetalfic mine.

« 41 surface diamond drill holes completed for a total core length of 6 717 metres.

= All6,717 metres of core split with half sent to an independent laboratory for assay and the remaining half kept
in storage. '

» 300 scil geochemical samples gathered on an approximate 100 metre by 100 metre grid spacing and
analysed at an independent laboratory.

+ -The exploration perimeter divided into eight zones for exploration and preliminary drilling undertaken in 4 of
the 8 identified target areas. Drilling successfully intersected mlnerallsed zanes containing predominantly
gold and silver with certain localities exhibiting polymetallic copper - lead - zinc mineralisation.

Follow up drilling is planned for these areas in order {o define the drientations and the extent of the mineralised zones
as-a number of intersections remain open at depth and along strike.

The soit sampling program encompassed approximalely 40% of the ‘exploration area, Furither sampting Is required to
the southwest and the noitheast to complete-the soil sampling coverage. The soil samplmg identified previously
unknown areas of mineralisation in the southem poriion of the exploration ares with gold in soil values of up to 17.7
grams per. ton gold.

Tao date the Graup has arranged USSE 1 million third party financing on behalf of the venture.

Other Romanian prospects

Wark has been in progress wilh the benefit of third parly money on exiending our footprint in Romariia through our
curvent claims at Magura Neagra and Piciorul Zimbrului (collectively known a5 * Zagra) The Group has undertaken a
dnlllng programme targeting sets of polymetallic veips together with areas of disseminated sulphide mineralization.

The Group continues to believe that exploration of the many mining opportunities that have become dofmant over the
lastiwo decades will be an attractive prospect for giobal mining players seeking to capitalize on the projected increase
in demand globally for copper occasioned by the global transition to clean energy and electric vehicles.

The. Groups “firsl mover position’ in Romania has aifracted interest in resuscitating the large—scale polymetallnc
resource pnojccts in Romania. Discussions have been held with global mining players and investors to'leverage their

financial strength and expertise fo jointly exploit these considerable opportunities.

Zimbabwe

In April 2019, the Group-divested its 25.01% stake in its Zimbabwean gold related operations which included the:
producing Pickstone-Peerless Gotd Mine (' PPGM } togéther with the non-producing Eureka Gold Mine in the cousse
of restoration(’ Eureka) and the dormant Glam .Gold Mine ( GGM)). The Group recorded 'an accounting gain on
disposal of USS 8.6 million. This. dweslmem was dnven in part by n¢ed to restructure. the Group's balance sheet to
énable the ﬁnancmg of strategic projects and by the Group’s strategy to focus resources on opportunities generating
figh and near ferm operating free cashflow unrestrained by tight currency controls as represented by BPPM and the,
expected diamond concession in Zimbabwe,

During the period the divested Zimbabwean goid operations recorded profits ofUS$ 8.4 million {2018 uss$ 23 million)
o revenue of US$ 31.2 million (2018 US$ 27.6 million). These resulls' have been heavily impacted by foreign
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exchange gains arising from a devaluation occasioned by the re-designation of all US dollar balances in Zimbabwe as
RTGS (Real Time Grass Sellleinent) balances. This has resulied in significant gains of US$ 5.7 million mainly arising
from foreign exchange revaluation gains on local cumrency denominated borrowings. On a nomalized basis after
removing foreign exchange gains, profits from the discontinued Zimbabwean operations increased by 16.4% to US$
2.683 riillion (2018: US$ 2.305 million), largely driven by increased milled volurmes (up 30% to 383,838 tonnes) and
associated increased gold production (up 14% to 748kgs). Both the gain on disposal of USS 8.6 million and the profits
of $US 8.4 million from the divested Zimbabwean gold operations are disclosed as profits from disconiinued operations
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Diamond Concession — Chiadzwa Diamond Fieids
The Group has completed due diligence on the diamond concession on which it expects to get the full right to mine

shortly and has prepared a full operating plan,

Corporate

The Group has repositioned its business, dlsposmg of its Zimbabwean gold operations in order to focus op BPPM and
its expected diamond interests. This restructuring has enabled the Group to repay $2.5 million of its loan from Sub-
Sahara Goldia Investments (Sub-Sahara’)} and to reduce its borrowings by -an additional $18.6 mitlion thereby
significantly reducing the Group's gearing, simplifying the balance sheet, and crealing a2 financial platform for growth
and refinancing. The Group has been actively seeking substantive financing following the withdrawal of Mercuria’s
US$ 5.5 million Tranche B to finarice BBPM and the diamond opportunity in Zimbabwe, At the time of writing this
report the Group Is near to concluding agreed ‘documentation with an insfitution which will provide funding for the
Group's operations both at BBPM and in Zimbabwe.

During the year the Group strengthened its management team through the hiring of industry experts in the diamond
sector.

Strategy

The Group's stralegy is to:

. Attract appropriale funding for the Group — including from institutional investment

. Altract appropriate joint venture partners and pubfic institutions to jnvest in the.Group and projects .of mutual
intercst

. Grow into.a mid-tier mining company both organically and through acquisiions financed principally by third
pariies

* Optimise operations to praduce positive cashflows

) Add value to operations by increasing resources and reserves

. If expedient, hold significant minority stakes in new veniures operationally managed by the Group

. Finance growth, where possible in a non-dilutive manner

. Magintain exposure to Zimbabwe and Romania where the Group has acguired in-depth country knoviedge

. Continue {o work with Governmeant and local communities in Zimbabwe in the diamond sector, and to develop

the diamond business in a transparent way for the benefit of all stake holders

Key performance indicators

In executing its strategy, the Board considers the Group's key performance indicators to be, or will be after
recommencement of mining:

Cash cost per tonne milled
« Cash cost per tonne is derived from aggregate cash cdsts divided by tonnes milled and measures productivity.
« For PPGM the cash cost for the pesiod until discontinuance was USS. 48ftonne (2018: US$ 62/tgnne), 23%
lower than the 2018 result.
o For iMPM the cash cost for the period of production was US$ 70/torne:(2018: USS 42/onne}, 60% higher.than
the 2018 result refiecting reduced volumes.

Cash costs per punce sold for gold and per tonne for eoncentrate
« Cash cost per ounce sofd is calculated by dividing aggregate cash cost by gold ounces produced or concentrate
tonnes produced and measures productivity.
» For PPGM the cash cost was US$ 770/ounce (2018:'USS 880/ounce), 12.5% lower than the 2018 result.
» For MPM the cash'cost was US$. 2,208k0mné (2018: uss 1,471ftonne), 50% hlgher than the 2018 result
reflecting réduced volumes.



Plam productlon volumes as a measuie of asset utihsatnon
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The rate of utmzatnon of the Group s cash resources Thts is d:scussed further. below

{Cagh fesources”

The Group's year end position was u'é§ 0.569 million {2018: USS$ 1.3 million). .
; Duong the year cash mﬂows from operatmg activities (mcluo”ng dnsconhnued actw:t:es) were US$ 5 3 mnlhon £xc udmg
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Cash inflows from fund!ng acuwtle (i nciudmg disoontinued actmt:es) were USS}‘! 2. m:ll:on Excludmg dlsoorm‘nued

actwltlés cash inflots from fundmg ach\; ies were $5.2 million, comprising the net of :he proceeds from the issuance
‘of shares of US$ 8 ] mlihon less net repayment of loans and borromngs of US$ 2.9 million:

The D:rectors monator lhe cash posmon ‘of the Group closely to plan sumcxent funds vithin the busmess to a||r.vw the
Group to meet is commllments and contlnue the development of assets "As parl of thns process the Dlrectors closely
monitor cap:ta expendlture and the regu|atory requnrements of the llcenocs to ensure lhey con!mue in good standmg

Principal fisks'and uncertainties
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The Group is in an | advanced stage of | agreemg documentation on a substamual fundmg

However, if tms fundmg should fail nt may casl doubt aboul lhe Group' s'»abnhlywto conlnnue" X:) gomg coggem Other

nce movementsA

e g B

Mmgatlo Commems
The Board wull contmue to engage or after reoommenoement oi mmmg wull engage wnh prowders of commodﬁy trade
menta ength’ &

PRty

,R:sk Comm dlty pnces . - .
\Commod«ty pnoes{ are subgecz to ﬂuct iation'in world markets and are dependent on such 1aclors a: mmeral oytpgtq al’ld :

demand giobal £CONOMIC 1rends ‘and geo-pormcaa ‘stability”




i
BPPM‘and the Manalla Polymetalhc Miné (' MPM Ty wrth the ob;ectwe of restarhng produciuon ai BPPM and to nmprove
’operattonal effncnency at MPM: Cdnsequenlly thc Group is wi dvanced in the ocess of | arrang-ng new fundlng,
3whrch it'is pnontxsmg for BPPM and s dnamond concess«on gwen the shogt lead’ hmes expected ) generate free;
;operational cash fiows, ‘and has placed MPM on care and mamtenance in expectatzon of a second fundlng round ata
later stage )

Rlsk Management and Retent:on of Key Pcrsonnel

+

The suecessful achnevameni of the Group S straleg:es busmess p!ans and ob;cctwes depend upon lis abxhty to auracl
qz—:nd retam‘roertam key personnel

iMlttgatmn/Commems . e
YThe’ Group s policy is 1o foster a management oulture wherey Ehagé’m t isfem';i" reo andy where irinovation’ and
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The risks facing the Company are detailed above, The Board seeks 10 mitigate such risks so far as it is able to do, as
explained above, but certain important risks cannot be controlled. The CEOQ is primarily responsible to the Board for
risk management.

In particular, the products'the Company mines and is seeking to identify are traded globally at prices reflecting supply
and demand rather than the cost of production. in Romania, the Company seekKs to protect its cash flow by means of
a long-term ofitake agreement, but it does not hedge future production.

Maintenance of a well functioning Board of Directors led by the Chairman

Current membership of the Board is as follows:

Name Raole Appointed
Brian Moritz Non-executive Chairman 6 October 2016
Andrew Prelea Chief Executive Officer 1 March 2018
Roy Tucker Finance Director 5 April 2005
Craig Harvey Chief Operating Officer 1 March 2018
Eric Diack Non-executive director 30 May 2014
Nick Hatch Non-executive director 9 May 2018

All the Non-exacutive Directors are considered o be independent.
All the Directors are subject to re-election at intervals of no more than three years.
The tabie illustrates the success of the Board in refreshing its membership.

The Board is well balanced both in its skiff sets and in the domicile of its members. Of the Executive Direcfors, Andrew
Prelea is resident in Romania, Roy Tucker in the UK, and Craig Harvey in Southermn Africa. Of the Non-Executive
Directors, Nick Hatch and Brian Moritz are resident in the UK, whilst Eric Diack resides in Southern Africa.

All of the current-Non-execuiive Directors are considered to be independent. None of them have been a Direclor for
a sufficient length of time to prejudice such independence.

Non-executive Directors are committed to devole 3 days per month to the Company. Execulive Directors devote
substantially the whole of their time to the Company.

Where possible Directors aré physically present at board meetings. but. due to the wide divergence of locations,
Directors may be present by telephone.

Durinig the thirteen month period ended 30 April 2019 there were six full board meelings in addition to twelve meetings
on specificissues. Of the Direclors holding office throughout the period, Brian Moritz, Andrew Preles, Roy Tucker and
Eric Diack, attended-all the full meefings either in person or by telephone.

Appropriate skills and experience of the Directors

The CVs of the Directors - three executives and three Non executives - as disclosed on the website, are set out below.
In addition, the Company has employed the outsourced services of Ben Harber of Shakespeare Martingau as company

secretary.

Andrew Prelea — Chief Executivé Officer

Andrew has been invalved with Vast since 2013 and has spearhesded the development of the Company's
Romanian portfolio. Beginning his careér in the early 1990s as a bulk iron ore and siee] trader in Romania, he
then went on to develop his career in the propesty and earthmoving seclor in Australia before retuming to
Romariia in 2003, mltlally to focus on the development of properties for the Romanian Ministry of Defence and
latterly, private seéctor developments. Throughom his 26-year career, Andrew has developed exlensive invesior
and public relations experience and has advised the Romanian governiment on wide ranging high-level topics
including $ocial housing and economic policy. He has biiill a strong network of contacts across. the mining and
metals industries and Europe and southern Affica, in addition {o policy makers and governmental authorities,
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Brian Moritz { Chairman .
Bnan is'a- Cha.’tered Aooountant and chrmer S or Panner of Grant Thomlon UK.LLP,, Londo
»Grant Tho‘l;nlon S Cap:tal Markets,Team whlch ﬂoated ‘over, 100 compames on AlM u‘g‘t{e“ s’ ch 'lm'lanshlp' n,
iDece_rnb'ér;zqo retued from Granl Thomton UK LLP,,to concentrate l'inglng new e

mark He sp c:al:ses ln natvral resources compames pnmanly n Afnca. a d was formerly cha man ol Metal,
Bulletm plc. Afncan Plalmum plc and Chromex Mmmg plc as well as currently bemg chalnnan of several Junlor'
lmlnlng companies.

tRoy ‘Tucker - Fmance Dlrecto

wnn Vast Resources he.has een heavny mvol'ved in both Zlmbabwe and Rornama

. Enc Dlack Non-Execuuve Off‘cer ) i
Enc |s a Chartered Aocountanl with many years expenence in lhe lndustnal land cape. Eric’ |s the
\ forrner CEO ofAngIo Amerlcan Ferrous l_@le!als Dlwsrons and has sewed on numerous major llsted and unllstgo

g'end adwsmg on

WL A

,.pro;ecls across the globe arlc_i acrorse the, oommodlty ¢ nc[udes com njes of all $_IZ :
'unveslmenl banklng in' 2017 and,has recenlly Set up‘m
e ey :

prowde mlnlng resealcr} busmess development and nanctpg edvnce He holg A)a c,legree in Mmmg Geology
-‘and is'a Chartered Engmeer ’

Acoounla}ﬁ With T many years xpehence in. gener‘al {i nanctal management ‘and. Cralg'Harvey

R XS

Among the Nomexecutwes Brian l\/;ontz isa Charlered Accountani wuth senlor expenenoe» In addmon to ‘his’ f nancual
b ALY TR X

- as'a Reglsleresl Nommat d

[There s, .frequeni?

o i |
mformal commumcatlon betwee members the’ B_oard 50d ] peer dppralsal iakes place on'an ¢ ongomg pasi
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normaltcgurso of; evems however the Board will: keep thrs under review; and-may,cons:der forTnahsed |ndependenl
=évaluation rewews ata Iater stage in the Company s development a

that the Board ope ates efﬁcremly nd st effectr\}ely'for the beneﬁk of all

o oa ate

that the' Boam WIII'be strengthened in due course ‘as and when new prmecfs are operated by the'(‘; mp‘any

ey

e ﬂl-— e

Méiniéﬁ%riée'df Gé’\?ée'}-hahce Strfro?di‘é‘s 'éh'd'Pfoéés'Eé'é;

h
:he UK éomama and Southern Afnca With 1ms hmnatlon‘the Board |s dedlcated lo upholdmg ihe hrghest possable
standards of governance and probrty

. The:(“.ﬂ‘hairrna‘nférian Moritz: :

. Ieads the Board and is pnmanly responsabte for the eﬂ’eotlve workm of lhe Board

. ln consullanon wnh the Board ensmes good oorporate govemance and sets dear expectations \ with' regards
to Company culture' values and behavro r;

. se s lhe Board S agenda aod € nsures lhat all Diréctors are encouraged to parnc:paie rully inthe acuwtres and

de ;sron-maktng process of the Board.

“The CEOFAndiéw Pra'é‘é'f

is pnmanly responsnble for developmg Vastsqsirategy yin Consuliatio. viith the' Board: for its impleimientation
and for the operanonal managemem oi the bu mess-

. |s pnmanly responsmle for new projecls and expansron

. |mplements lhe decrsrons of the Board

momtors remews and_manages Key risks;

|$ the"é mpany s pnmary spokesperson communrcatmg wr(h extemal audrences such as mvestors ana!ysts
and the media!

g

The Chist Obérdling Offcer. Graig Hamey::

. ns resp0n5|ble for operatsonal umprovements and eFﬁc:ency of ' : nrgg operatlons in Romama
] sponsrb e fogexpanm n'and 'expfaratgon of proiegis at thefmine_revel.

Yo e
o assistd and adwses on the operatlon and expans:on 5f the Zlmbabwe operauons and prqects 1)
+  provides| techmcal |npux on’ new pro;eots -

B R

The Finance Dlrector 'Roy Tucker‘

N L Y-

1s responsrble for the admnmsiranon of a!l asoecis of the Group,

¢ 3o o

assasted by lhe Chsef Fmancual Oft’ cer oversees lhe accounimg functrbn of all group compames;‘

nclal Ofﬁéerkdeals With al matlers re atung lo‘ tho mdependent%udrl
e L S R A A AT TR

'lw ith the Company‘ Iawyers and Nomad £and the LOndon Stock Exchange
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procedure +fol developlngmoh
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managnment with: thc abrmy and expenence requued 10; manage the Company and to promde supenor long-term
‘performance

The Audlt and Comphanoa Commxuee is chalred by Enc Dldfik an(l orc;mpnses Nrck Halch and Enc Dlack 1t normally
meets twice per. annum to mtef alia, consnder the i |n im a L :

and lhe meetmg ‘considers and takes acnon on any matters Taised by ‘the au itors 2 ansmg from thelr audxt

The chamnan Bnan Montz attends lhe meetmgs of these commlttees when requested lo do S0..
xMatters resarved for.the Board indide:

. VlSlon and strategy -
K} Product;on and tradmg resu!ts

de Budgels aOQUISItIOI'IS and expanmon pro;ccts, dlvestments “and capﬂai expendrlure and busnness plans
oa Corporate gwemanoe and oomphdnce

Risk’ ;nanagement and mtema[ oontrois

; Appointmenté'and successwn plans

., Dureclors remuneratuonx

A its corporate governarrce mformauon,.the
"’u\4

Company s puhlncauons mcludmg hustonc ‘annual reports “and nonces ] annua gencral meehngs together wrth share
! pnce mformatlon.

2 & Ty

ST T TR

Co panys webs:te wrth suntable exp(ananons of aﬁy actlons undgrtaken as a resun of any s:gnm
resolutlons

int votes agamsz

t Oquol?
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vestment in new c pper mmm upacny {Management
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tmer]t and thai'lhe “Grovip;
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L
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Many thaiiks 1o fellow Board members and manageément for the commilment and hard work that has been put into the
Grous. : ks bl .

On behalf of the Board,

Andrew Prelea
Group Chief Executive Officer



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
for the period ended 30 April 2019

The Directors present théir report together with the audited financial statements for the thirteen-month perod ended

30 April 2018

Results and dividends

The Group statement of comprehensive income is set out on page 24 and shows the profit for the period.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2018: nil),

' Financial instruments

Details of the use of financial instruments by the Company and its subsidiary undertakings'are contained in note 20 .of

the financial statements.

Directors-

The Direclors who served during the period and up to the date hereof were &s follows: -

Date of Appointment

Roy Tucker .5 April 2005

" Eric-Diack 30 May 2014
Brian Moritz 3 Gctober 2016
Andrew Prelea 1 March 2018
Craig Harvey 1 March 2018
Niék Hatch 9 May 2018

Directors’ interests

The interests in the shares 6f the.Company of the Directors who served during the period were as follows:

30 April 2019 31 March 2018
Ordinary . Share Ordinary Share
Shares Options Shares ‘Options
Eric Diack - . - .
Craig Harvey 5,650,000 - 5,650,000 .
Brian Moritz 10,000,000 - - -
Andrew Prelea 39,179,476 - 18,438,736 -
Roy Tucker 69,569,992 - 31,607,029 -
Total 124,399,468 - 55,695,765 .

Cash-settied share rights

The fdllowing righits are held by Directors in a cash-setiled share rights performangce programme:

& e ‘Outstanding  Exercised Granted Outstanding
Subscripion '3 'March  during last  during last  at 30 April
price 2018 13 months 13 months 2019
Roy 8.75p 1,500,800 . . 1,500,000
Tucker '
5.00p 750,000 - - 750,000
6.00p 2,750,000 - - 2,750,000
Total 5,000,000 : - 5,000,000

'See note 22 for iuither: defails of this programme,

Exercise dage

50% Jul 2010°
50% Jul 2011

© 60% Aug 2011

50% Aug 2012
50% Aug 2012
50% Aug 2013
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Share Appreciation Rughts Scheme
The following Directors have been granted rights under the Company's Share Appreciation Rights Scheme:

Esic. Diack

Craig Harvey

Andrew Prelea

Roy Tucker

132,500,000

In issue at
31 March
2018

12,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000

1,250,000
1,250,000
9,000,000
9,000,000

18.000,000°

18.000,000
18,000,000

10,000,000
8,000,000
9,000,000
9,0'00,000

Grant date

1 Jun 2015

1Mar 2018

1 Mar 2018

1.Jun 2015.

1 Jun 2015

.1 Mar 2018

1.Mar 2018

1 Jum 2015
1 Mar2018
1 Mar 2018

1 Jun 2015

1 Jun 2015

1Mar2018~

1 Mar 2018

S,ee.nbie 22 for further details of the SARS.

Diréctors’ remuneration

2019 (13 months)
Eric Diack.

Craig Harvey

Nick Hatch

Brian Moritz
Andrew Prelea
Roy Tucker

‘201 8 (12 months)
Eric Diack

Cralg Harvey
Bnan Montz
Andrew Prelea

Roy Tucker
Roy Pitchford’
Brian. 'Basham

Salary/Fees
earned *

'$'000

33
196
28
33
244
163
697

30
15
26
18
145
473
g9

416

T

Exercised /

Awarded lapsed In issue at
during during 30 April
period period 2019

- (12,000,000) -
- - 5,000,000
- - 5.000,000
- (1,250,000} -
- - 1,250,000
- - 9,000,000
- - '9,000,000.
- 18,000,000
- - 18,000,000,
) - 18,000.000
- {10000000) = -
- - -8,000,000
- - 9,000000
- 8,000,000
- (232500000 109,250,000

Vesting
Start

31 Mar 2016

31 Mar 2019

31 Mar 2020

31 Mar 2016
31 Mar 2017
31 Mar 2019
31 Masr 2020

31 Mar 2017
31 Mar 2019
31 Mar 2020

31 Mar 2016
31 Mar 2017
31 Mar. 2019
31 Mar 2020

period
Finish

31 Iar 2018

31 Mar 2022

31 Mar 2023

31 Mari2019

31 Mar 2020
31 Mar 2022
31 Mar 2023
31 ar 2020
31 Mar 2022
31.Mar 2023
31 Mar.2019

31 Mar 2020
-31 Mar 2022

31 Mar 2023

*The Company has; devcloped a-practice of defefring payment of varying. proportions .of sums-eamed by Dirgclors
until the Company liquidity position improves..

$13,062 6f Andrew Prelea’s remuneration last year was settled by issuing 7.407.407 shares.
The Company has qualifying third party.lndemn'ilty_jprdvisioﬁs for the benefit of the Directors.
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Future developments
The Company’s plans for fiture developments are morc fully “set down in the Stmteglc Report on pages Y to 15;

Research and deveIopment .
Detailed busmess and ﬁnanc:ng plans were prepared to bnng Bana Plal Polymetalhc Mme into produchon. .

The Group xs we!l edvanced n‘the process of arrangmg a ‘undmgfac:hiy ‘ha1 w1l allow 1t :o meet the‘se producbon

wuth certam Iocahtres exhnb:ttng palymetathc oopper - Ioad - zinc minerslisation’ Follow up dnllmg is planned for thesg
areas m onder to deﬁne thetonentatxonetand lhe extent of . the: mmerahsed .zones.:;The soil ¢ s:ampnng prograrn
! ¥ urther,samphng ‘is Tequired 10.the southwest and the
,Jrsampdmg ldentrﬁed prewous!y u kno_wn areas‘of 5

fortheast 1o, comp!ete the’ sbﬂ ; I
mmeralfsaﬂon n the southem port:on of the exploratuon area wrth_gold m sml values of up_'_lt 0 }17 7 grams PEr | ton gold

SR et s

3

Dlsabled employees
The Grouprgives&full consnderatlon«to,apphcahons for et}'nplgymenl from- dnsablcd _persons: where ihe eend;dates
y mee etin

practieable m the same orhn alierha'tlvepo\ tiort an

Aud:tors
A!I of the current Dmectors have taken: all the steps that they ought o have taken o make themseWes aware qf erzy
needed by ‘the purpoees of theur'audit anid tg establish that lhe -auditors are a\ivaré
0z J ’ at L

"_'proposed by the Bqard that they. be

nre oy wrs e S,

29 Septémbeér 2019.



Statement of Directors' responsibilities

The Direciors are responsible for preparing the Sfrateg‘ic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial sfatements in .
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company lav requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and applicabie law.

Under oompany law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs. of the company and the group and of the profit or loss of the group for that
period, in preparing these fi financial statements, the Directors are required to: -

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
*  miake judgments and acoounting estimales that are reasonable and prudent;

*  state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

* prepare the financial statements on the gning conoern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that afe sufficient to show and explain the
Group's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statemems comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are. also responsnble for
safeguarding the assels of the Group arid hence for laking reasonable steps for the prevention.and detection of fraud

and other lrregularutles

They are further respensible for ensuring that the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors and other information
included in the Annual Repost and Financial Statements is prepared in accordance with applicable law in the United
Kingdom., o
The maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the

auditors does not involve the consideration of fhese matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for
any changes thal may have occumred in the accourits since they were initially presented on the website.

Legislation in the Unifed Kingdom goveming the preparation and dissemination of the accounts and the other
information mctuded in annual reports may différ from legisiation in other jurisdictions.
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iNDERENBENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 70 THE MEWMBERS OF VAST RESOURCES PLC'

Opmlon

|«‘

‘We have 'iudrted lhe fnancual statemems of Vast ‘Resources’ p!c (the ‘Pare_nt Company‘) and |t§ subsudnanes (1he
; "Group ) for the thlrteen month persod ended 30 Apnl 2019, which comprise.

the hotes {6 the financial statements, mcluchng 'a‘ qummary fésgmﬁcant aocountmg policies

The ﬁnanmal reporung framnwork that has been applbed m lhe preparauon of the fi nancnal statements is’ apphcable law,
sand Internshonal Fmanc:al Rep-orhng Slandards (IFRSs) as adopted bv the Eugopean Union’

EREES ST

‘ ln,ouropml N

. the fi nancna! statements gwe a frue. and fair viéw of he State of, the Group's'_and of the Parenl Company's-
affanrs as at 30 Apnl 201 9 and of the Group s proﬁt for the penod then e_nded

“sésié"fér';Sﬁi&i"dh

W conducted ouf AU

Matenal uncenamty rélated to’ gomg concern

In formmg our oplnion on; ﬂhe fmanmal statemcnts. whlch |s not modnﬁed we' ihave, congdered ihe adequacyxof the
! d fAreas of s an djudgement in

'Matenahty
B u‘r - _\r.'x.|.r,x.r.0; e T

ln piannnng and performmg our audlt we! dpplted lhe concepl of matenahty An item is ‘co dered m""enal nf ll could
‘be expec S i hs of a us of the financial statem >nt Y used the concept

: : i ‘
Fﬁéde as'to the enuty“ns,k‘_énd our. evglyano of the’ speafc sk 6f edich udit drea having Tegaid fo the internal éontrol
enwmnment AT ST T e n -

- - . - -.,20-



Where considered appropriate performance maleriality may be reduced to a lower level, such as, for related party
transactions and directors’ remuneration.

We agreed with the Audit Committee to report to it ali identified errors in excess of $5,000. Ermvors below that threshotd
would also be reported Lo it if, in our opinion as auditor, disclosure was required on qualitative grounds.

Ovarview of the scope of our audit

Of the Group’s reporting components, in addition {o the Parent Company, we identified two entities comprising one
component requiring full scope audits for group purpases located In Romania. Of the Group's repomng components,
in addition to the Parent Company, we identified two entities.comprising one component requiring full scope audits for
group purposes located in Romania. The components within the scope of our work accolinted for 100% of total assets
and continuing revenue. The work on these components was pedformed by component auditors,

We issued instructions to the component auditors which included details of the significant areas to be covered,
including the key audit matters defailed below, and the information required o be reporied back. We reviewed the
audit work performed by 'the component audnors communi¢ated our findings therefrom and any further work required
by us was then periormed by the component auditor.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those maiters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks ‘of material misstatement
{whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest ffect on: the
overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of ihe financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matter described in the ‘Material unicertainty related lo going concern section, we have determined
the foltowing key audit matiers. This is not a complete list of al! risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed.the key audit
matter

Going concern

We reviewed management’'s process for considering going
The Group recorded a loss from concern. We obtained management’s assessment of going
continuing operation of $9.95 million ang  concern, comprising cash flow and profit and loss forecasts for
-at 30-April June 2019 held cash and cash  at least 12 months from the date at which the financial
equivalents of $569,000 which was not statements were approved.and a summary of the funding

sufficient to support the production, #vailable to the Group to cover that period.

development and administrative costs of )

the Group for 12 months. Our procedures included, but were not limited to:

The.going concem basis of preparationof  * identifying the key assumplions included within the forecasts
the financial statements may not be which we discussed with management and, where
appropriate appropriate, challenging the appropriateness thereof;

- considering sensitivity within the projections and considering
available mitigation of expenditure; and

« reviewing felevant documentation in relation to funds raised
by the Parent Company after the reporiing dale

We also assessed the adequacy of disclosures made in the
financial stalements in refation {o going concern
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Disposal of the Group's Zimbabwe
gold interests
Qur procedures included, but were not limited to:
In April 2019 the group sold its 50.01%
interest in Ronquil Enterprises {pvt) Ltd a : .
: il . " » agreeing the disposal to legat agreements
through which it held its remaining documenting the ansaction; and

25.01% economic interest in the

Pickstone Peerless Gold Mine and » recalculating the profit or 10ss on disposai to ensure
associated assets. This had a significant the accounting entries are appropriate.

impact on the reported revenue and

profitability of the Group, resulted in the We also assessed the adeguacy of disclosures made in the

derecognition of substantial asseis, financial statements in refation to disclosyres of the transaction
liabifities and Non-Controlling Interest in and ensured adequate weighting has been included in the
the Group and the recognition of a surround information.

substantial gain on disposal.

The accounting for the disposal may be
materially misstated.

Our audit procedures in relation to these matters were designed in the context of our audif opinion as a whole. They
were nol designed to enable us to express an aginion on these matters individually and we express no'such opinion.

Other information

The direclors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual repor, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to tihe extent otherwise explicitly stated it dur repoit, we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibifity is to read the other information and, in doing
s0, consider whether the other information is materiatly inconsistent with the financial statenients or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated. If we Edenﬁfy such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a matertal misstatement in the
financiai statements or @ material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a inaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact,

¥We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit

» the information given in the sirategic report and ihe direclors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statermnents are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

« the ‘directors’ report and strategic report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirernents.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In fight of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

We have nothing o report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report o
you if; in our opinion:

« adequate accounting fecords have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for.our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us: or
the parent company financial stalements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received. all the infarmation and explanations we require for our audit,
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsiailities statement, the directors are re:.poﬂSIhle for the preparation of
the financial statements and for bemg satisfied that they give 3 true and Rair view, and for such intemal canirol as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financiel statements that are free from matenial
masstatement whether due to fraud or eiror.

in preparing the financial statemeants, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and parent oumpany S
abifity to: continue as & going concern, disclosing, as dpplicable, matters related to going concem and using the going
concem basis ofaccour«ung unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or io cease
operations, or have no raalistic alternative bui to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are Lo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 2 whole are frée from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or r:rror and {o issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance i a high level of assurance, bul is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in acocondance
with 15As (UK) will always detecta malerial misstatement when It exists. Misstaiéments can arise from fraud. or emdr
and are considered material i, individually or in ihe aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to Influence the
econamic decusinnq of Users takan on the basis of these fnancial statements

A Jurher description ofour responsnbllmcu for the audit of the financiat statements is located on the Financial Relmm ng
Council's website at: www.iTc.org. ukfauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our aud it6r's report

Use of our report

This report i$ made solely to the company's members, as a body, in acoordance with Chapter 3 of Pad 156 of the

Compames Act 2008. Our audit wori{'has been undentaken so that we might state tothe company! smembers those

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's reportand {or no other purpose. To the fuliest extent pen'mtted

by fav. we da not accept or assume fesponsibility (o, anyone other than the company ‘and the company's members
a body, for our audit work, for this repo, or for the opinions wea have formed

Stephen Butlock {Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and va behalf of

Crowe UK. LLP

Stantory Auditor

London

29 Sepiember 2019
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Group statement of comprehensive income
for the period ended 30 April 2019

30 Apr2019 31 Mar 2018
Group Group
Note $'000 -$000
Revenue 3,432 3,008
Cost of sates (4,344) (4.298)
Gross loss (912) (1',200')'
Overhead expenses (8,195) (3.334)
Depreciationand impairment of property, plant and.equipment 2 (1.206) (1.401)
Profit / (loss) on sale of property. plant 3nd equipment 84 (23)
‘Share option and warrant expense 22 (264) (27
"Suindry income 31 129.
Exchange (105s) / gain (2.798) 2.301 |
Other adminisirative and overhead expenses (4,322) (4,313)
Loss from operations (9,107) (4,534)
Finance income 1 -
Finance expense g (845) (708)
Loss on disposal of interest in subsidiary leans - (‘12.53'8)'
Loss before taxation from continuing operations (9,951) (1 7,780)
“Taxation charge 5 - .
Total loss after taxation from continuing operations (9,951) (17,780)
Profit after taxation from discontinued operations 13 1?,047 2,305
Total profit {los$) after taxation for the period 7,098 (15.475)
Other cbmprehéﬁsive'inédme
Ilcms that may be subsequerilly reclassified fo either profit or loss
(Loss) / gain on svailable for sale financial assets 3 3
Exchange gain { {loss) on translation of foreign opérations 1,941 (1.435)
Total comprehensive profit ! {loss) for the period 49034 (1‘639'07_)
Totat profit / (loss) attributable to:
- the equity hoiders of the parent company 243 (17,295)
- non-céntrélfidg interests 6,853 1,820
7,088 (15,475)
Total compréehensive profit/ {loss) attributable to:
-the equity holders of the parent company 2,181 (18,727)
- non-controlling interésts 6,853 1,820
9,034 {16.907)
Profit / (loss) per. share - basic and diluted 8 0.00° {0.36)
Loss per share contmumg operabons basié and diluted 8 (0.16) {0.37)

The accompanying accounting policies andnotes on pages 29 10°63 form an .integral. part of these financial

statements.
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Group statement of changes in‘equity
for the for the period ended-30 April 2019

Forsign
Share currancy  Avallable Non-
Share Share option translation  for sale EBT Rétalhed controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve deficit Total interests Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At31.March 2017 19,420 74,802 4,880 (1,228) - (3,542) (71,296) 19,646 12,394 32,040
Total comprehensive loss. forthe period - - - (1.435) 3 - {17,285) (18,727) 1.820 (16,907)
Share option and warrant charges 27 27 27
Share options and warrants lapsed - - (337) - - 337 - - -
sl sttt iy e = R RV R
Interest in‘mining-asset: - . - . - - (4,604) {3,604) 4,604 -
Ao NGl sy - L e e um e
Shares Issued for.cash; 620 2435 - - - - - 3,085 - 3,055
At 31 March 2018 20,040 77,237 1,580 (2,863) 3 (3.942)  (97,688) (5,433) 23,047 17,614
Total:comprehensive loss.for the peériod - - - 1,844 (3} - 243 2,181 6,853 9,034
Share opiioh and werrant charges - - 284 - - . - 264 - 264
Share optlons and. warrants lapsed - - (229) - - - 228 - - -
Derecoghised:on discontinued: operations;

- Déllag’lio Investments:(Private) Limited - - - - - - - (29.841) {29,941)
Daracognition of EBT reserve- - - - - - 3,942 3,729 221 - 221
Shares issued 3,662 4,448 - - - - - 8,110 - 8,110

At 30 April 2019 23,702 81685 1,615 {122) N - {100,937} 5,343 (41) 5,302

The ac;:qn}p‘anying-acy:oum_ing‘p.olicies and notes on-pages 29 to 63 forny an integrai part of these financial statements.
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Compariy staternent:of.chandes.in:equity
forthe for the.period ended:30 April 2018

Af34 March' 2097
Total comprehensive loss for. the year’
Share:option-and warrant charges
Share options and warrants iapsed
-Shares’issued ;fg,r_cg§li )
'Af31:March:2018

Share optidh-and vedriarit cirges

Share options and warranis lapsed

Derecagnifion.of EBT.reserve

§Ijaresjé§uedéfo: cash”
-At30°Apiili2019

Foreign )
o o Share currency Avallable
Share ~ Share’ ‘option transiation forsale EBT Retained
'cg_gq'ft_ai premium reserve reserve reserve reserve deficit Total
§°000 $2000 $'000 $'000 $'000. $'000 $:000 $000
49,420 74,802 1,890 {4,954)- " . (3,942): (48:633) 38,563
- B - - 2) - (14917} (14,919)
- - 27 - - - - 27
- - (337); - - - 337 -
520 2:435 - - - - - 3,085
20,040 -77,237 43580, (4,954) ) (3:942) (63,213) 26,746
. . - . 2 - 388 400
- - 284 . - - - 264
. - (229) - . . 229 .
- - - - - 3:942 @718) 224
3,662 4,448 - - - - - 8110
23,702 81,685 1618 {4,954) - - (66,304) 35,744

The:acogmpanying accounting polities and notes-on pages 28.to 63-form.anintegral part of these finaficial statemints.,
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Groupand Company statements of financial position

As at 30 April 2019

Assets:

N_or'\-cu'rr'ent assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Invéstmiént i joint veniures”
Loans-to group companies

_Gurreritassets

Inventory
- Receivables
.Available for.sale investments
‘Cash and cash equwalents
Total current-assets:

Total Asséts

Equnt'y and Liabilities:

,Capnal and reserves: aunbutable to
-equuty holders of the Parent

-Share caplial

Share premium

Shdre optlan reserve

Foreugn currency translauon reserve
Available for sale réséerve

EBT reserve

‘Retained deficif

Non:controlling interests
Total equity

Non“current liabilities
'Uoans and borrowings
Pfovisiops
Deferred tax liability

Current liabilities-
Loans and borrowings-
'Tra e_.-and other pay bles

'Total current habnhhes
~Total liabiﬁties
Total Equxty and Liabiiities

‘Note

10
12
14

45
16

17
19

47
.18

30 Apr2013 31 Mar2018 30 Apr2018 31 Mar 2018
Group Group Company Company
$°000° $'000 $1000 $'000

11,261 45,534 1 -
- 1,673 1,583

- 559 - -

- - 34,568 25,179
11,261 46,003 36,242 25,762,
13, 4,054 - -
'3.537 5,406 2361 93
- 13 T 3

569 1,300 218 208
-3,519 10,773 579 304
14,780 /56,866 36,821 27,066
23,702 120,040 23,702 20,040
81,685, 77,237 81,685 77,237
1615 1,580 1,615 1,580
(722) (2:663) {4.954) (4,954)
- ‘3 e 2

- {3.942) .- (3.942)
{100,937) {97.688) (66,309) (63:213)
5,343 {5. 433) 85,744 26,746
(41) .23,047" -
5302 17,614 :35,744 26,746
4043 22,635 - .
489 - 1,397 - -

- 3330 . -
4,532 27,362 - -
1476 4,331 309 -
3,470 7,559 “768 320
"4:846 11890, 1,077 320
9478 39,252 1,077 320
14,780 56,866 9682 27,086

ﬁnancval‘ statements on pages 24 to 63 were approved and authonsed for issue by the Board or Dneclcrs on 29
September and were sngned ‘on lts behalf by:

y.C:
D:rector

Regastered numher 541 4325

29 September 2019



Group and Company statements of cash flow
for the period ended 30 April 2019

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) before taxation for the period
- from continuing operations
- from discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Depreciation angd impairment charges
{Profit) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of discontinued ¢perations
Loss on disposal of available for sale investments
Loss on disposal-of interest in loans
Share option expense:

Changes in working capital:
Decrease {increase) in receivables
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Increase (decrease) in payables

Cash generated by / {used in) operations

Investing activities:
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipinent
Payments to acquire of new subsidiary
Paymenis for investment in subsidiary
.Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equiprment
Proceeds of third-party investment in subsidiary
Proceeds of disposal of available for sale investments
Net cash inflow on disposal of discontinued gperations
Proceeds of derecognition of EBT reserve
Payments to acquire controlling interest in subsidiary
Proceeds of loan assignment
Decrease (increase) in investment in joint venture
(Increase) decrease in loans to group companies
Total cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities:
Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares
Proceeds from loans and berrowings granted
Repayment of loans and borrowings

“Total pi:t?ceecls from financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning.of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period:

30 Apr2019 31 Mar 2018 30 Apr 2018 31 Mar 2018
Group Group Company Company
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000

(9,951) (17,780) (3,237) {(14,917)
17,047 6,099 - -
4,554 2,862 - -
(76) 22 (2) -
(8.649) - - -
10 - - -
- 12,538 - 12,538
264 27 264 27
3,199 3,768 (2,975) {2,352)
2,140 8 (268) 1,513
1,290 (2.392) - i
(1.275) (1,898) 452 {127)
2,155 (4.382) 184 1,386
5,354 {614) {2,791) (966)
(11,391) (9,197) &) -
(4,480) - - -
. - (80) -
168 107 - -
. 1,700 - -
1,582 - - -
224 - 221 -
- (2.303) - {2.303)
- 2,300 - 2,300
559 (102} . -
- - (5.752) (3.117)
{(13,334) (7.495) (5,619) (3,120)
8,110 3,055 8,110 3,055
6,165 9177 310 .
(7.,029) {4,149) - i
7,246 8,083 8,420 3,055
(731) (26) 10 (1,031)
1,300 1,326 - 208 1:23¢
569 1,300 218 208

The accompanying notes and accotinting policies on pages 28 to 63 form anintegral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of accountlng pohcres
for the penod ended 30 April’ 2019

General mforrnat]on

Vast Resources plc and |ts subsrdranes (togelher ‘the Group') are engaged pﬂnapally in the, exprorahon for.and
d8velopment of mmeral pro;ects in “Siib-! ahéra Afnca and Eastern ‘Europe, Since mcomoratron the Gr0up has ‘bui
an “extensive and mteres!mg portfoho of pmJecls in ihese ;unsdrchons The' Companys ordrnary shares are hsteg‘onﬁ
the. AIM market of the London Stock Exchange_ v

(R
C Sy .

Vi st Resouroes plc was: |ncorporated asa pul Irmlted company under UK Company Law.with reg»stered number;
0541432571t | is ‘domiciled and Tegistered at 60 Gracechurch Street, London EC3V OHR. .

Ba5|s of preparatlon and gomg concem assessment

ended 30 Apnl} 2019 "ére thérefore” not enhrely comparable to the, prevuous year‘s f_ f
,penod ended 31 March 2018. - )

‘The financial Statements are prepared under the hrstoncal ‘cost oonvnntlon on'a gomg concem basrs.

, In Apnl 2019 the' Group drsposed of its ernbabwean goldioperanons 1o focus on rrs mrmng assets in Romama and ris .

~requnrementb ever the course of the next 24 months in cash Whrle no bmdmg fi nancmg agreement ls ln place ai the
f date of this Repoﬂ lhe Group is wetl advanced |n the prooess of arrangmg new, fundmg that wnll allow Va¢t to place ’
the Baaba Plar Po!ymetal!rc Mme‘( BPPM) mto producuon and will enable lhe commencement of operatlons at the

At t_he date of authonsa_hon of these ﬁnancra'l statements ‘a numbe .0f Standards and. lnterpretahons “were in 'ssue
“ul were not yef effective  The Dired nticipa ‘the 1ese s
any of lhn amendmems made io exrstlng standards as a result of the ‘annual amprovemenls Cycle w]ll have a mate i

eﬁeca on the ﬁnancral shtemonts in: the year of mlbal apphcalmn

EAreas of estlmates and ]udgepcnt
b;‘I’he prepar o .h G r
:the:usé “of. estlmates an
conungent asséts:and hab 2, , ,
;expenses dUrlEg the reportmg pen '§Allh0ugh‘lhebe ebt}rr_lateb are: based on. management’s best; knowledge‘of
{ourrent eve z aclual restlts ray ltmately differ.from those estimates The estimates and assumptions
,that have a srgmf icant rrsk ofcausmg a.matenial ad;usiment tothe canylng amounis of asse[s and habllmes in the nexi
ﬁnancral 'year are discussed belows. ™ =

.

eferred explora’aon costs acqurred elther as |ntanglblc asset"

e T

'a) Impamnent of mtanglbles and mmmg;a_ssets
Tha Group revrews on an annu_al b

d. by therGro

S B R PR o LA SRR R



()} Going concern and Inter-company loan recoverability

The Group's cash flow projections, which have used conservative assumptions on forward commodity prices, indicate
that the Group should have sufficient resources to continue as a going concern, although, as stated in the Principal
Risks section of the Strategic Report and the basis of preparation and going concem assessment above, the Group
wiil require additional funding for its near-term investment plans. While the Group is canfident of its capacity to raise
this funding, should it not materialise, or if the projections not be realised, the Group's'going concern would depend
on the success of future fund-raising initiatives. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which
rmay cast significant doubt about the Group’s and Company’s abilily to continue as a going concem.

The recoverability of inter-Company loans advanced by the Company to subsidiaries depends also on the subsidiaries
realising their cash flow projections.

¢} Estimates of fair value _

The Group may enter into financial instruments, which are required by IFRS 1o be recorded at fair value within the
financial statements, In determining the fair value of ‘such instruments, the Directors are required o apply judgement
in selecting the inputs used in valuation models such as the Black Scholes or Monte Carlo models. Inputs over which
the Directors may be required to form judgements rélated to volatility, vesting periods, risk free interest rates,
commodity price assumptions and discount rates. In addition, where a valuation requires more complex fair value
considerations the Directors may appoint third party advisers to assist in the determination of fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial and non-financizl assets and liabilities utilises market observable
inpuls and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into differenit
levels based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):-

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items {unadjusted),
Level 2: Observable direct or indirect ihputs other than Level 1 inputs.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from markei data).

The classificalion of-an |lem into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant
effect on the fair value measurement of the item.

d) Provisions
The Group is required 1o eslimate the cost of its obligations to reatise and rehabifiiate 1ts mlnmg properties.

The estimation of the cost of complying with the Group's obligations at future dates and in economically unpredictable
regions, and the application of appropriate discount rates thereto, gives rise to significant estimation u,ncertainties.

‘e) VAT recoverable

In countries where the Group has productive mining operations carried out by its subsidiaries those subsidiaries are
régistered for Value Added Tax (VAT) with their respective local taxation: authorities and, as their oulputs are
predominantly zero-rated for VAT, receive net refunds of VAT in respect of input tax borrie on their inputs. This amount
is carried as a receivable untll refunded by the State

The amount carried as a receivable is detemmined in accordance with the returns submitted to the taxation authorities.
Basis of consolidation

Wheré the Company has control over an investee, it is dlassified as a subsidiary. The Company controls an investee
if all three of ihe following elements are presenl: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the
investea, and the ability of the investor {0 use its power lo affect those vanable réturns. ‘Conlrol is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

De-facte control exisis in situations where the Company has the practical ability 16 direct the relevant activities of the
investee without holding the majonty of the voting rights. In determining whether de- facto control exists the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including:

» The size of the Company’s.voting rights refative to both the size and dispersion of other parties v/ho also hold
voting rights.

. Substantive potential voling rights held by the Company and by other parties.
. Other contractual arrangemenis.

. Historic patterns in voting attendance,

The consolidated financial statements present the results of the. Company and its subsidiares ("the Gmup") asif they
‘formed 4 single antity. inter-company transactions and balances belwaen Group companies are therefore eliminated

in full,
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the resulis of business-combinations using the acquisition method,
In the statement of financial position, the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are iniiially
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. The results of acquired operations are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date on which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated
from the date on which control ceases.

Business combinations

The financial information incorporates the resulis of business combinations using the purchase method. In the
statement of changes in equity, the acquiter's identifiable assets, liabilities -and confingent liabilities are initially
recognised at theirfair values at the acquisition date. The resulls of acquired operations are included in the Group
statement of comprehensive income from the date on which control is obtained. The assets acquired have been
valued-at their fair value. Any excess of consideration paid over the fair value of the niet assets acquired is allocated
o goodwill. Any excess fair value over the consideration paid is considered to be negatlve goodwill and is immediately

recorded within the income statement,

Where business. combinations are discontinued, whether by closure or disposal to third parties, any resultant gain or
loss on the discontinued operation is identified separately and deait with in the Group's consolidated income statement
as a separate item,

Financial instruments

IFRS 9 supersedes 1AS 39 Financial Inslruments; Recognition and Medsurement with new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assels and liabflities, impairment of financial assets and hedge
accounting.

IFRS 9 introduces a new forward-looking impairment model based on expecied credit losses to replace the incurred
loss model in IAS 38, This detenmines the recognition of impairment provisions as well as interest revenue,

The Group adopted IFRS 9 from 1 April 2018 with retrospective efiect in accordance with the transitional provisions.

The Group's principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents and receivables.

The Group has assessed the impact of IFRS 9 on the impaimment of its financial assets and has concluded that the
¢hange in the impairment is immaterial. .

\While cash and cash equivalents are afso subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS'S, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial,

The Group‘s'ﬁnancial assets consist of cash and cash equivatents and ofher receivables. The Group's accounting
policy for each category of financial assel is as follows:

Financial assels held at amortised cost ;

Trade receivables and other receivables are classified as financial assets held at amortised cost. They are initially
recognised at fair value plus fransaction costs that are directly attribiitable to their acquisition or issue ‘and are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the efiective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

Impairment provisions are recognised when there is abjective evidence (such as significant financial difficulties on the
part of the counterpariy or default or significant delay in payment) that the Group will be unable to collect all of the
amounis due under the terms receivable, the amount of such a provision being the difference between, the net carnrying
amouni and the present value of the fulure expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable. For
reoewables, which are reported net, such provnsmns are recorded ina separale allowance account with the loss being
recognised within administrative expenses in the statement of oomprehenswe incoma. On confi rmation that the
receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of thie asset is writteh off against the associated provision,

The Group's financial assets held at amortised cost comprise other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the
slatement of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents’

These amounts comprise cash on hand and balances with banks. Cash eqlivalents are short térm, highily liquid
accounts that are readily converted to known amounts of cash. They include short-lerm bank deposits and shori-term

investments,

Any cash or bank balances that are subject to any restrictive conditions, such as cash held in escrow pending the
conclusion of conditions precedent to completion of a contract, are disclosed separately as “Restricted cash”.

There is no significant difference between the carrying value and fair value of receivables.

Financial liabilities .

The Group's fi nancial liabilities consist of trade and other payables (including short terms loans) and long term secured
tiorrowings. These are inifially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried al amorlised cosi, using the cffective
inferest mathod. Where any liability caries 4 right to converdibility into shares in the Group, the fair value of the équity
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and Ilabnlxiycporbons of the habuhty IS determmed ‘at'the -date that the, convértible instrarment:is issued, byt use’ of
.appropnate dlscount factors

Fore:gn currency
The functxonal currcncy of the COmpany and a!l of its subsudlam-‘-s outside Romanla is the United States Dotlar, whlle !

the functional currency ofthe Company s Romaman subsxdlanes is the Romaman Lei (RON) lhese are the | cufrencies |
of the prrmary economic enwronment in whlch the Company and its subsnd»anes operate .

Iarly re”oogmsed -mmed-atcly in prot‘ it or lass, except 'for foreign’ currency borrczwmgs quallfymg _' sa hedge of a
net mvestment in'a foreign operat:on-

The exchange rates applied al each rcporimg Jate viere as Tollows:

P b gen

30 April 2019~ %3, 3036 £1 'and $1 RON ,2'440 iand $1 RTG} 3.2641
31 March 2018 $1 4012 £_1 and $1 RON 37779 .and $1 RTGS: 1
31 March2017 7$1. 225A £1 anq s1: RON 42615 .and $1: RTGS™

.
o
>

On 22_I‘ebruary 2019 all'us, dol]a[ bafances in, Zlmbabwe‘wege reﬂlaled as RTGS {Real T:me Gross Settternent)

‘ihe US dollar was US$ 1; RTGS 2 5.

'Intanglble assets_ Mmmg nghts

;lnventones _
Inve.ntlorres are :nm:ally reoognlsed' sgtgsequenﬂy at:-the:lower of cost’ and. net: reahsabte value"Cost

. comprises all costs “of purchas, cosié"of"onvers:on ‘and:Gther costs lncurred in brmgmg thé’ inventories' 0 their
- ;present I6cation and condition. Wenghied average cost'is Used to determlne the cost of ordmanly mter‘changeable
nerns :
Mnnmg mveniory"qncludes run of mnnehstockpnles mmerats m CerUIt fmxshed goods ar;d oonsumables. Stockpnes _
.mmerals n mrcmt and ﬁmshed goods are,valued at thexr oost of productnon fo thelr pom( in process usmg a we:ghted
'average wst of produchon or ne} rean 5 valig?y Fis the lower Low grade stdckp:les are_‘ ni !
. *as an asscl when there |s evudence to support ihe fac( fhaz'some e:conomlc benef { er ﬂow to the Company cn lhe

'sale of such’ mventory Consumables are. valued at theur cost o acquisi on'or nei reahsable value whnchever #the
tlower'

lnvestment ln syb§ldlarles 2
The Company s mvestrnent in n-‘ subsmxanes |g rccorded at oost Iess any nmpamnent!

Non—controllmg mterests {

For busmess combmauons cornplete

. ‘y ‘rion onlroumg Anterest lll'l nithe'a aoqu‘

oK

ntrolllng mierest suchas outstandlng share obuoﬁé

B B R A o L

o b 8 DL 2veny o

e e, oS . Lt . b e s
tota 'comprehenswe mcome of 10n- whony r:xw' ed su ‘atfributed to;owners of the parent and 'i_o‘.the

sts, -

)S dnanes

hererlhe gonds are; dchvered.,

PR

_“i" récogmséd in, lhé perios
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less an appropriate provision for retums based on past experience. Delivery of gold and metal concentrates is the
Group's single performance obligation under its contracts with its customers. The same paolicy applies to warranties.

tUnder IFRS 15, the freight service on export commodity conlracts with CIF/CFR terms represenis a separaie
performance obligation, and a portion of the revenue eamed under these contracts, representing the obligation to
perform the freight service, is deferred and recognised over time a$ this obligation is fulfilled, along with the associated
costs for whieh the point of recognition is dependent on the contract sales terms. The Group's agreed terms with
Mercuria, currently its sole buyerof concentrates, require that the seller must contraci for and pay the costs and freight
necessary to bring the goods to the named port of destination. The impact of applying this methodology versus that
currently adopted by the Group during lhe year ended 30™ April 2019 is not material as the transfer of risks -and
rewards generally coincides with the transfer of control at a point in fime. The timing and amdunt ‘of revénue
recognised by the Group for the sale of commodities is therefore not matenally affected, The Group's gold safes,
wihich form part of discontinued operations, were also not affected by this standard,

Provided the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the Group will receive any
consideration, revenue for services is recognised in the periad in which they are rendered.

Pension costs v
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are charged to profit or loss in the year to which they relate,

Production expenses
Production expenses include all direct costs of production bui exclude depreciation of propenly plant and equipment
involved in the mining process, and mine and Company overhead.

Property, plant and equipment

Land is not depreciated. ltems of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and sre subsequently
carried at deprecisted cost. As well as the purchase price, cost includes directly attributable cosis and the ‘estimated
present value of any future costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is-recognised within
provisions.

Depreciziion is provided on all other items of property and equipment so as 1o wiite off the carrying value of items
over {heir expected useful economic lives. It is applied at the following rates:

Buildings - ' 2.5% perannum, straight fine
Plant and machinery - 15% per annum, reducing balance
Fixiures, fittings & equipmerit - 20% per annum, reducing balance
Computer assets - 33.33% per annum, straight line
Motor vehicles - 15% per annum, reducing balance

Development costs associated wilh the development of the Zimbabwean diamond project have been expensed as
the concession has yet to recewe a Special Grant..

Capital works in progress: Property. plant and equipment under construction are carried at iis accumnulated cost of
construction and not depreciated until such time as construction is completed or the asset put into use, whichever is
the earlier. '

Proved mining properties
Depletion and amortisation of the full-cost peols is computed using the units-of-production method based on provad
reserves as determined arinually by management

Provision for rehabilitation of mining assets

Provision for the rehabilitalion of 8 mining property on the cessation of mining is recognised from the commencement
of mining activities. This provision accounts for the full cost 1o rehabilitate the mine according to good practice
guidelines in the country where the mine is focated, which may involve more than the stipulated minimum legal
commitment.

¥When accounting for the provision the Company recognises a provision for the full cost to rehabilitate the mine and a
matching asset accounted for within the non-current mining asset. The rehabilitation provision is discounted using a
risk-lree rate which is tinked to the currency in which the costs are expecled 1o be incurred, and the applicable inflation
rate applied to the cash flows. The unwinding of the discounting effect is recogriised within finance expenses In the
income statement.

Share based payments

Equity-setlied share-based payments

Where share options are awarded lo employecs, the fair value of the options atthe date of grant js charged to profit
or loss over the vesling period. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting thé number of
cquity msirumenl... expected 10 vest at each reportmg date 50 that, ullimately, the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventuslly vest.Market vesting conditions are factored into
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the fair value of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is mad¢ irrespective
of whether the market vesting conditions are satisfied, The cumulslive expense is not adjustéd for failure to achieve
a market vesting condition,

Where the terms.and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options,
measured immediately before and aiter the modification, is also charged Lo profit or Ipss over the remaining vesting
period.

Where equily instruments are granted to persons other than employges, the fair value of goods and services received
is charged to profit or loss, except where it is in respect 10 costs associated with the issue of shares, in which case. it
is charged to the share premium’ zecount.

Cash-settied sharg-hased payments

The Company also has cash-settled share-based payments ansing in respect of a performance programme (see
Note 22). A liability is recognised in respect of the fair-value of the benefit recaived under the programmie and charged
to profit or loss over the vesting period. The fair-value is re-measured at each repoiting date with any changes taken
to profit or joss,

Remuneralion shares
Where remuneration shares are issued lo setlle liabiliiies to employees and consultants, any difference between the
fair value of the shares-on the date of issue and the carrying arount of the liability is charged to profit or loss,

Stripping costs

Costs incurred in stripping the overburden to gain access o mineral are deposits are acoounted for as follows:
Stripping costs incurred during the development phase of the mine (before production beglns) are capitalised as part
of the depreciable cost of building, developing and consinucting the mine. Capitalised costs are amortised usirig the
units of production method, once production begins.

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of the mine which give rise 0 the production of usable inventery
are accounted for in accordance with the principles contained in the Group's policy on Inventories. Stripping costs
incurred in the production phase of the mine which result in improved access fo ore are capitalized and recognized
as additions to non-currént assets provided that it is probable that the future economic benefit from improved access
to the ore body associated with the stripping activily will flow to the Company, that it is possible to identify the
component of the ore body to which sccess has been improved and that the costs retafing to the stripping activity
associated with that component of the ore body can be measured reliably,

Tax
The major components of income tax on the profit or loss include current and deferred tax.

Current tax

Current tax is based on the profit or loss adjusted for iterns that are non-assessable or disallowed and is calculated
using lax rates that have beén enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Tax is charged or ¢redited to the statement of comprehensive income, gxce’pl’when the tax relates to items credited
or charged directly to equity, in which case the tax is also deait with in equity,

Deferred tax
Deferred lax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount 6f an asset or liability in the statement

of financial position differs to its tax base, except for differences arising on:
. The initial recognition of goodwill;

. The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the
time of the transaction affects neithet accounting or taxable profit; and .

. Investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the difference and it is probablé that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be

available against which the difference can be ulilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates thal have been enacted or substantivély enacted by
the reportmg date and are expected to apply when deferred tax habslmesl(assels) are settled/(recovered) Deferred

tax balances are not discounted.
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New IFRS accounting standards
The following are the major new IFRS accounting standards in issue and effective from 1 January 2019

IFRS 16 Leases

The principal impact of IFRS 16 will be to change the accounting reatment by lessees of leases currently classified
as operanng leases. Lease agreements will give rise to the recognition by the lessee of an asset, representing the
right {o use the leased item, and a related liability for fulure lease payments Lease costs will be recognised in the
income statement in the form of depreciation of. the right of use asset over the lease term,-and finance charges
representing the unwind of the discount on the lease liability. The adoption of IFRS 16 does not materially impact the

caiying value of lease liabilities given the Group's neghigible l¢asing exposure.
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Notes to financial statements
for the period-ended.30 April 2019

Segmental analysis

The Group cperates.in ene business.segment, the development and mining of mineral assets. The Group has.interests in two geographical. segments being Southern Africa
(primarily Zimbabwe) and Europe. (pimarily Romania).

The ‘Gmup s-operations are reviewed by the Board (which.is. considered lo be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODMY and split between mining exploration and
developmenl and-adrinistration and corporate costs,

Exp!oratlon and development is- repartedto the: CODM only on the basis of those costs incurred directly on projects. All costs Incurred on the projects are capitalised in accordance
with IFRS 6, including.depreciation chatges in fespect of langible assets used on the projects.

Administration 3nd corporale costs are furlher reviewed on-the basis of spend acrosi the Group.

Dec13|ons ‘a5 made ‘about where to allocate cash resouroes based on the stalus of each project and according 1o the Group's strategy to develop the projecis. Each project, i

taken into commerdcial development, has the potential tobe a separate operating segment. Operatlng segments are d\sciosed below on the basis of ihe splil. between exploration
and development and administration’and corporate.

Continulng operations Discontinued oparations

Mining, oxploration A:r:gin Mining, exp_loration A:l:';i"

and development corporate Total and development corporate Total

Europe  Africa Europa Africa )

) $'000 s'000 -$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000. $'000 5'000

Thirteen months to-30-April:2019,
Revedus ’ 3.328 - 104 3,432 . 31243 - 31,243
Produciicn costs (4,344) - - (4,344) - {18,527) - (18,527)
‘Gross.prefit (loss) (1.018) - 104 (©12) - 12,718 - 12,716
Depreciation | (1,200} - © (1,2086) - (3,348) - {(3,348)
Profit (loss) on sale of propery, pianl and . R
equ?prs'lentJ' propert P 86 - @ 84 @ @
Share option and warrant expense - - (264} (264) - - - -
Sundry:income 311 - - 311 - 870 - 670
Exchange {los$) gain (2:283) - (515} (2,798) - 6,494 {779) 5,715
Other administrative and overhead expenses (1.516) - (2,808}  (4,322) - (4,894) 22) (4,916)
Finance income - - 1 1 - 2 - 2
Finance expense {413) - (432) {845) - (1,014) - (1,019
Profit on disposal.of discontinued operations . - - . - 8,649 - 8,649
Taxatlon (charge) - . o - - (1,408) (11} (1,419)
Profit loss) for the:year from-coniinin 2 A - - s .
Operaflom) ¥ 4 {6.031) (3.920)  (2.951) 17869 (812) 17,047
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30 SApril 201 9
“Tolalassets:
Total norw:urrent asse{s

12:Moiiths to 31 March 2018
Revenue

Frodiction.costs

Gross: profit: (déss)
Deprec:ahu
Profit (kzss) ‘on'sale.of: propeny plant and
eqmpment

Share: opuon and warrant.expense

Sundry incoine

‘Exchange-(toss) gain

Other admtmslraliva and: ovemead expenses
Finance'income

Finance expense

Loss:or disposal ¢ of subsidiery company: I6afs

Taxation: (chizrge)

Profit{loss):forthe: iyear from. contmulng
oparanons

3% March-2018
‘Tolabassels,

Total non-ou Nl.assets
Additit
“Total current'assels
Total liabilities

13611
14,220
1,684
2,441
8,434

Continuing operations-

Mlnlrig, explorallon

and develdpment . -

Europe ‘Africa
$'000 $:000

3,008
(4,298}
{1,200

{1,398)

{23)

129
1,451
(1.700)

(708)

(3:449)

14,976
11,669
3134
3,186
9,686

Admin -
and’
corpmate

-$'000

)

[e))
850
(2:613)

{12,538)

(14,331)

320

18

425
327

14,780 . - - A
11,261 - - -
1,737 - a3y - 14371
3519 - -
9478 - - - -
Discontinued operations
) Mining, oxploration “_\grr"g"
Total anddevalopmént oo orate:  Total
' Europe Africa )
$'000 $000. 3000, $1000 $:000-
3,008 L 27590 - 27.590
(4:298) - (19,114) - (19,114)
(1,200} - BATS - 8,476
(1:401) - (1,460) - (1,460
(23) i 1 ' 1
@7 - - - -
129 - 342 - 342
2,301 . . - -
(4.313) - (741) 67) {808)
- - 42. - 42
(708) - (462) (32) 1494)
(12,538) - - - -
- - {3784y - (3794
{17,780y 2:404 (99) 2,305
15,296 - 41,306 ‘264 41,570
11,685 - 34,409 1) 34408
37134 - 6,063 - G 063
3,611 - 689 264 7162
10013 - 14378 44880 29,230

There dfe no-fion-urrent assets held in the-Coiipany's-country of domicile, beihg‘thézUniieﬁ Kingdom (2018:.$nl).



Révenue-analysis'oy; ggogi'aphicalflbcétibn,__prqduct and cusiomer.

2019
Group ~ Group
$°000 $'000°
Romania Zimbabwe
Gold-bullion - 31,243
Mineral concentrates 3,328 -
QOther 104 -
3,432 31,243

2018
" Group - Group
'$°0000 §000
Romania  Zimbabwe
- 27,590
3,088 -
3,008, 27,590

400% of gold bullion and mineral concentrate sales (2018: 100%) in both Romania and Zimbabwe were made to a single.customer in each respective country.

Romanian revenues form par of continuing operations. All Zimbabwean revenues form part of discontinued operations.
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2 Group loss from operations

2019 2018
-Group Group
$°000 -$'000
‘Operating loss i5 stated after charging/ (credmng)
Auditors’ remuneration (note 3) 105 129
Depremahon 1,206 1,401
Employee pension costs 43 61
Share option expense- 264 27
Foreign exchange ioss /'{gain) 2,798 (2,301)
{Gain) / Ioss, on dlsposal of property, plant and equipment {64) 23
3 Auditor’s rémuneération from continuing operations
2019 2018
Group Group
$'000 $'000
Fees payatle to the’ Company $ auditor for the audit of the
Campany’s annual agcotints 59 83
Fees payable to the Company's-auditor for other servites: ‘
- Audit 6f the accounts. of subs;dxanes ' 46 46
= Othcr semces - .
405 129
Auditors remuneration from discontifued opérations ' 33 22
4 Fihanceé expense from contifiuing operations
- 2019 2018
Group Group
$'000 $'000
Interest paid on secured borrowings ‘ 770 6_98
Interest paid of urisecured borrowings : - 10
Interest pald on convertible loan_ 75 -
845, 708
Finance expense-from discontinued operations - 1014 494

§.  Taxation
There'wai i taxation charge for coritinuing operations during the year (2018: USS ail).

Taxation from discontintied activities was as fallows:

2019 .2018

‘Group Group

'$°000 -$'000
.Ingome tax on proﬁts 485 ’ -
Deferred 1ax’ charge 934 ‘3;794,‘
Tax charge (credit). 1:419 3.794

Defr’rred lax "dssets are only recognised in the Group where' the company. concemed: has'a' reasonable expoctanon
of future prof'ts agamst' ihich lhe ‘déferred tax asset-may be recovered,
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2019

Group
$'000
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the.standard
rate of corporatlon tax in the UK. The differences are
explained as follows:
Profit / (loss) before taxation 8515
Profit / (loss) before taxation at the standard rate of 1618
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2018; 19%) a
Difference in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions- 2,007
Income fot chargeable'to tax (4,629)
Expenses not alléwed for tax, 1,308
‘Short térm hmmg dnferences (1. 056)
Loss carried forward €] :237)
Income tax charge on proﬁts 485
Factors that may affect fulure tax charges:
Tax losses 2019
Group
$'000

Aceurnulated tax losses o 49,558

2018
Group
$°000°

(11,681)
(2:219)

690
(227)
350
(1,795)
(3.201)

;2018
Group
$'000°

61,423

2018
Company.
$’000

31,152

2018 -

-Company

$000

28,903

Howevér, these losses will only t be recoverable against future profits,:thie timing'of which is uncertain, and a de!erred
tax asset has not bieen recogrused in rcspect of these losses. A deferred lax-assel has not been recogmsed in respect

of acoumulated tax Iosses for the Company

Employees from both contmutng and discontinued operatrons

2019 2018
Group  -Continding e onct’i'i;ed Group - Coritinuing conlz;rsl;xe i
. - $'000 $:000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Staff "costs (inciuding direéctors)

-consist of: ' o » ’ o
Wages and-salaries - ‘management’ : 1:,33.3; 753 630 _ 987 5i3 474
Wages and salafies — olher 6,057 2.444 -3,613 4,224 2,523 1,701

7440, 3,197 4,243 5211 13,036 F2:175.
Consiiliaricy fees 1,057 754 303 1419 1912 507
Social Secufity costs 257 165 92 229 1627 67.
Héalthcare costs® - - . - -
Pensnon costs 201 43 - 168 213 61 1562
78,955’ 4,159 4786 7.072 4471 ..2,901

The ave "gé nummber of employees‘

“(incluc ctors) during the year

Viag 3’ fo]lows ) )

Management 19 11 8 s 8 6.
Other opefations. 590; 208 ~382 371 213 158
809 219 380 366 222: 164




7 Directors' remuneration

2019 2018

Group Group

$'000 $'000
Directars' eroluments 697 402
Company.coniributions to pension schemes - 14
Directors and key managemerit remuneration 697 416

The Direclors are considered to be the key management of the Group and Company.

Four of the.Directors-at the end of the periad have share opliens receivable under long tesm incenlive schemes. The
highest paid Direclor received an amount of $244, 168 overthe thirteen-month period (2018: $196,359).

Included within the above remuneration are' amounts accrued at 30 April 2019

8  Earnings per share
30 Apr 2019 31 Mar 2018
Group Group

Profif and loss per ordinary share has beer calculated using the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
rélevant financial year.
The weighted averag‘e numberof ordinary shares In issue for 5 887 042.985 4821870747
the period is: e E
Profit / (loss) for the period ($'000) 243 (17,285)
Profit/ {loss) per share basic and diluted (cents) 0.00 . {0.38)
Profit / (loss) from continuing operations for the period ($'000) (9,649) (ﬁ, 598)
Profit / {loss) per share basic and diluted continuing operations ’
(cénts) - (0.16) 0.37)
Profit 7 (loss) from discontinued operalions for the period {$°000) G 890 803
Profit { (loss) per share basic and diluted discontinued A
opgrations (¢énts) 017 o0
The eifect of all otentially dilitive share options is anti-dilutive.

4 Lossfor the-ftinancial year

The Company has adopled thé exemption allowed under Section 408(1b) of the Companies Act 20606 and has riot

presented its. owh incorrie statemeént in these financial statements.
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19 Property, plant and equipment

Group

Costat 1 April 2017
Additions'during the year
Reclassification

Disposals during the year
Impaliment.

Foreign exchange movements
Cost at'31 March 2018

Additions duiing the period.
Agquired through business combination
Redlassification

Disposals-during the'period
Disconlinued operatioris
‘Foreign éxchange movements
Cost at'30 April 2018
Depraciation at1 April 2017
Charge for the year

Disposals during the year

Foreign exchange movements
Depreciation at 31 March 2018
Charge for.the year

Acqulred through business combination
Disposals during the period
Discontinued operations

Foreign exchange movements
Depreciation at 30 April 2019
Net.book value at 31 March 2018
Net book value at 31-March 2019

Fixtures, Buildings Capltal
Plant and fittings and Computer Motor and Mining Work in
machinery equipment assets vehlcvlas Improvements_ assels progress Total

$'000- $1000 $'000 $'000 $'000 -$°000 $'000 $'000
8,401 202 227 605 3,231 24,946 6,362 43,994
8 53 109. 94 33 1,908 6,189 9,197
9,942 (30) 30 - 242 194 (10.378) -
(131) (62) (78) (60) (28) (2} - (361)

. - . - (34) . - (34

224 7 3 60 296 385 50 1,025
19,247 170 281 699 3,740 27,431 2,243 53,821
1,392 103 118 313 176 5428 3,861 11,391
2812 21 102 2 1,790 - - 4727
246 - - . 134 - (380) -
(14) - . - ®2) - - (86)
(20,142} (243) (382) (707} (2,240) (26,188) (2,830 { 52,732)
(338) (5) {11y {B2) (308) (497) (110) (1,329)
3,203 48 118 246 3212 6,174 2,784 15,782
2,963 118 139 283 345 978 604 5431
1,826 21 79 114 52 670 - 2,862
{s1) (62) {78) (34 O] - - (286)
100 5 - 42 42 7 - 260
4,798 83, 140 405 538 1,718 604 8,287
2,710 44 162 100 . 210 1,222 106 4,554
52 - 9 - - - - €1

(4 - - - - - - 4
(5,402} (84) (238) (319) (68) (1,828) - {7,939y
(201) (8) ) {54) (85) {73 - (438)
1,963 35 66 132 685 1,040 710 4,521
14,449 87 151 294 3;202 25,712 1,639 45,534
4,250 11 52 113 2,627 5,134 2,074 11,261
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10 Piopeity, plantandequipment (cont)

Company

Depreciation-at:31 March 2017
‘Charge:for the:year,

Disposals during;the year
Depreclation-at:31 March-2018

‘Chargeforthe period
Disposals-during,he.period
Depreciation at:30°April 2019

‘Net bookivalue-at 31 March 2048

‘Net Hook value at 30: ApFil 2019}

. _ . Fixtures, ) . B,uil'din'gs
Plant and “fittings and Computer Motor and
machinery -equilpment assets vehicles, improvements Total

$'000 -$'000. $:000 $°000 '$'000. $'000

30 5 23 - - 58

30 5. 23 - - 58

- - 1 - - 1

30 ‘5. 24 - - 59

30 5 23 - - 58

30 5 2 - - 58

30 ‘5 23 - - &8

- - k] - - 1
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12

Investments in subsidiaries

2018 2018
Company  Company
$'000 $'000
Cost at the beginning of the year 1,583 218
Additions during the year 20 1,365.
Cost at the end of the year 1,673 1,583

The principal subsidiaries of Vast Resources pic, all of which are included in these consolidated Annual Financial
Statements, are as follows:,

Country of ‘Proportion held by
Company registration | Class group Nature of business
2019 2018
African Consolidated Resources | Romania Ordinary | 80% 80% Mining exploration and.
SRL development
Millwall International BVl Ordinary | 100% 100% Holding company
Investments Limited .
Moorestown Limited BVI Ordinary | 100% 100% Mining exploration and
-development
Sinarom Mining Group SRL Romania Ordinary | 100% 100% Mining explgration and
development’
Vast Resources Romania Ltd United QOrdinary | 100% 100% Holding company
Kingdom ' L
Vast Resources Zimbabwe Zimbabwe | Ordinary | 100% 100% Mining exploration-and
(F’nvate) Limited development

The table above shows the principal subsunanes of the Company. A fult tist of all group subsidiaries is glven in Nate 29,
al the end of this report.

Investment in joint venture and subsidiary company

On 1 April 2018 the Group acyuired a 25.01% interast in Delta Gold (Private) Limited ("Delta") for US$ 4.5 million
which was held indirectly through the Group's interest in Dallaglio lnvestments (Private) Limited {"Dallaglio™). Delta is
incorporated in Zimbabweé and is the owviner of the Euréka Gold Mine which at the time of the acquisition was on care
and maintenance. The goodwull atising on this transaction was US$ 0.6 million :

The Group prewously held a 25.01% interest in a Joint venture, Cordiilera (Private} Limited (Cordinera}, which was -
indirectly hsld through the Group’s interest in Breckridge Investmems (ana#e) Limited, the opéraiing. company for
the Pickstone Peerless mine in Zm1babwe Cordillera is incorporated in Zimbabwe and its main inlerest is the grovisicn
of custom milling services to arlisanal miners operating in the vicinity of the Pickstone Peerless. Gold Mine. On 1 April
2018 the Joint Venture was fully absorbed irito the operations of Breckridge Investments (Private) Limited.

Both of these investments have been disposed of as part of the Group's disposal of its gold operations in Zimbabwe,
The associated fixed assel additions associated with these investments are disclosed within the fi xed assel nate.

No detailed disclosures have been made of these transactions as,.in the opinion of the Directors, they are not material
to the financiat statements.




13  Profit after taxation from discontinued operations

On 23rd April 2019, the Group disposed of its remaining 25.01% interest in Dallaglio investments (Private) Limited,
the holding company for the Pickstone Peerless and Eureka Gold mines in Zimbabwe. On 24th April 2019, the group
disposed of its 100% interest in Canape. Investments (Private) Limited, {he holding company for its gold investments
in Zimbabwe. The aggregate consideration received for these disposals was $3.5 million.

The amounts included within the profit (loss) after taxation-from discontinued operations are as follows:
30 Apr 2018 31 Mar 2018

Group Group
$000 $'000
Gain on disposal of operations 8,649 -
Profi{ after tax from discontinued operations before Zimbabwe
dollar devaluation ) 2,683 2,305
Profit-after tax from discontinued operations - devaluation gains. 5715 -
Total profit after taxation from discontinued operations 47,047 2,305

The net assets and non-controlling interests derecognised in arriving at the gain.on disposal are as follows:

$'000.

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 44,793
Joint venture investments ! -
Total nof-current assets : 44793
Current assets .
Inventories ‘3,045
Trade receivables o 1276
Available for sale investments. o
Cash and cash equivalents . 1,908
Total current assets . 6,229
Non Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings ' 14.873
Provisions - ’ 240
Deferred tax liability .. T 4,388
Total non-current fiabilities 19499
Current liabilities )
Trade payables 1,554
Loans and borrowings o 5,743
Total current liabilities L ) 7.297
Allribulable. goodwill 566
Net assets de-recognised 24,792

. S e
Consideration received:
Cash 3,500
Total consideration received 3,500
Gain on dtsposal .
Consideration received 3,500
Net assets derecogmsed (24,792)
Non«controlhng interest de-recognised 29.941
Fairvalue of retained interest -
‘Cumulative gainfloss on financial assets at FVTOCH reclassified on loss of control
of subsidiaries -
‘Cumulative exchange difierences in réspect of net assets of the subsidiaries
reclassn‘ ed from equity on loss of control of subs:dzanes -
‘Gain on disposal 8,849
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The breakdown of the components of profil after tax from disconlinued operations in the period is as follows: *

30 A_pr 2019 31 Mar 2018
Group Group
$000 $'000
Revenue 31,243 27,590
Cost of sales {18,527) {19,114)
Gross profit 12,716 8,476
Overhead expenses -(1.887) (1,925
Depreciation (3,348) (1.460)
(Loss) profit on disposal of fixed assets {8) 1
Sundry income 670 342
Exchange gains 5,715 -
Other administrative expenses (4.916) (808)
Profit from operatnonq 10,828 6,551
Finance i income. 2 42
Finance expense {1, 14) (494)
Loss on disposal of interestin ‘subsidiary loans -
Profit before taxation from continuing operations }.9.817 6,099
Taxation charge (1,419) {3,794)
Total profit after taxation for the year 8,398 2,305,
Other comprehenswe income {3) -
Total oomprehensive prof it for the period 8,395 2,305 -
Tolal comprehensive profil attributable to:
The equity holders of the parent company 1,249 613
fNon- controllmg interest 7.146 1,682
8395 2,305
Cash genserated by / absorbed in:
) ) 2018
Continuing” _ Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations operations -operations
Operating activities 7.8 13226 (5.131) 4,517
Investing activities {11,083) (5.437) {2,059)
Financing activities 1,985 7,989 92

14 Loansto group companies

Loans fo Group companies are _repayable’on demand..- The treatment of ihis balance as non-curent reflects: the,

Company's expectation of the hmmg ‘of réceipt.

15 inventory

Mmerals held for.ssle

Producilon stockpnes
Qonsumable stores

Apr2019  Mar2018  Apr2019  Mar 2018
Group Group Company ‘Company
$000 $'000 $°000 $'000
81 1484 - -
48 1,425 - -
304 1,145 - _
413 4,054 - -

46"



16 Receivables

17

Trade receivabdles
Other receivables

‘Shorl term loans

_Prepayments
VAT

‘Trade receivables

Other receivables

Apr 2019 Mar 2018 Apr 2019 Mar 2018
Group Group Company Company
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

. 94 - -

1,502 1,145 137 29

174 789 224 50

74 1,366 - 14

787 2,012 - -

2.537 5,406 361 93
Of which: of which: not impaired as a{ 30 April 201 5

.and past dug in the following periods:
o More than
Carrying Neither three
amournt bafore impaired months and
| deducting any Related Net nor past. -Not'more not more

impalrment impairment carrying duc on 30 than three than six More than six

loss loss amount April 2019 months months months
707 707 - - - - -
1,704 | 202 1,502 1,502 - - -
2411 909 1,502 1.539 - - .

Af the reparting date; included within VAT receivable is an amount in respect of VAT owed to African Consolidated
Resources ‘SRL of US$ 710,362 (RON 3,014,349) The amount represents VAT paid on the Baita Plai Mineis care
and maintenance dpérations, As reported last year. ANAF, the Romanian revenue authority had refused to accept
aforesaid amount as a legitimale VAT receivable as a mining licence was not then in place for Baita Plai Mine..On
15th October 2018, the mining licence was granted. The Romanian Court has instructed an independent VAT audit
and, subsequent-to ihe réporting.date, the audil has been completed satisfactorily and supports the Group s claim for

repayment,

Loans and borrowings

Non-cyrrent secured borrowmgs consnsl of:

Non-current

Secured borrowings

Unsecured Borrowings

less amounts payable in less than 12 months

Current
Secured borrowings:
Unsecured borrowings
Bank overdrafts
Current portion of long term borrowings

Total loans and barrowings

Apr 2018 Mar 2018 Ap_r 2018 Mar 2018
Group Group Company Company
$'000 $'000 $’000 '$°000
4,043 8,149 . .
- 14,838 - -
: (352) - -
4,043 22635 - -
978 -
498 2,664 309 -
- 1,316 -
- 352 - -
__1.476 4,331 - -
5,519 26,966. 309 -
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Non-current secured boirowings consist of;

s USS$ 4,000,000 (2018: US$ 4,000,000) secured offiake finance from #ercuria Energy Trading SA. The loan is
secured by a pledge on 48. 9% of the shares of the Group's subsidiary Sinarom Mining Group SRL and bore
annual interest of 9.4%.

o USS 43449 (2018; US$.69,131) asset.financing loans secured on the underying movable assets belonging to
ACR SRL.

Current secured borrowing consisls of:.

e USS 978,453 (2018: US$ 4,080,000) toan from Sub-Sahara Goldia Invesiments Lid secured by a pledge over
50.1% of the shares of the Group s subsidiary Sinarom Mining Group SRL. The loan bears interest at 12% per
annum and is repayable within the year,

Current unsecured borrowing consists of:

e USS 189,072 (2018: US$ 220,156) loans from the non-controlling interests in African Consolidated Resources
SRL, the holder of the rights t6.the Balta Piai Mine. The loans frami the non- oontrolhng interests are interest free
and have no fixed terms of repayrnent There is no expectation that this loan will be called,

+ US$ 309,635 (2018: nil) loan from M Semere bearing an interest rate of 6%, Theré is no expectation that this
loan will be cailed

‘Recongiliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Non.cash changes

Loans L Accrued
Amortised repaid Disposal interest 30
1Apr Cash- finance in T of Exchange inother  Apr
) 2018  flows charges shares liabilities adjustments payables 2018
‘2019 Group . $:1000s $'000s $'000s $°000s $°000s $'000s $'000s $'000s
‘Long-!erm borrowings’ 22635 (3,754) 412 - (14,873) i 35 (412) 4,043
Short-term bomowings 4,331 7.896 1,435 {900) (5,743) C . (5.543) - 1476
Total liabilties from financing 56 gas 4 142 1,847  (900)  (20,616) {5,508 412) 5519
activities 7
Non cash changes
Amorticed Loss én _Loan
1 Apr finance  loan  (9EOS2l 31 Mar
2017 Cashflows charges  disposal ‘ 2018
'2018 Group $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $°000s $'000s
Long-term borrowings 3,166 3923 708 12,538 2300 22635
Short—ten'n borrowings 3,935 (98) 494 - 4,331
Total liabilities from financing o ' _ ' L
“activiies 7.101 3.825 1,202 12,538 2,300 26,966

*Loan disposal cashflows are included in investing activities
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Reconciliation of external interest costs

2019 2018
Group Group
$'000s $'000s
Amortised finance charges - shori-term borrowings 1,435 494
Amortised finance charges - long-term borrowings 412 708
Total external interest for the period 1,847 1,202
18 Trade and other payables
' Apr2019 ™Mar 2018  Apr2019  Mar 2018
Group Group Company Company
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade payables 1,193 5,719 288 186
Other payables 1.033 769 470 106
Other taxes and social security taxes - 4,027 980 10 28
Accrued expenses . 217 91 - .
3470 7,559 768 320
Maturitx pi‘o‘ﬁle for trade and other payables
. 150 days or
Amount 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days more
Trade payables 1,193 365 . 57 170 105 496
Other payables 1,033 708 171 8 4 141
19 Provisions .
Apr2019  Mar2018  Apr201%  Mar 2018
‘Group Group Company Company
$:000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Pravision for rehabilitation of mining properties
- Provision broughl forward from previous periods- 1,397 1,095 - -
- Derecognised on disposal of subsidiary (908) 302 - -
489 1.397 - -

As more fully set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies on page.33, the Group provides for the cost of the
rehabilitation of a mining property on the cessation of mining. Provision for this cost is recognised from the

commencement of mining activities.

This provision accounts for the estimated full cost o rehabilitale the mine at Manaila according to good practice
guidelines in the country where the mine is located, which may involve more than the stipulated minimum legal
commitment. The comparative figures include.provisions in respect. of Plckstone Peerless which was divested in April

2018.

When accounting for the provision the Group recognises a provision for the full cost to rehabilitate the mine and a
matching asset accounted for within the non-current mining asset,
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20 Financial instruments - risk managemant

Significant accounting policies

Delails of the significant accounting policies in respect of financial instruments are disclosed on page 31..The Group's
financial instruments comprise available for sale invesiments, cash and items arising directly from its operalions such
as other receivables, lrade payables and loans.

Financial risk management

The Board secks to minimise its exposure ¢ financial risk.by reviewing and agreeing policies for managing each
financial risk and monitoring them on a regular basis. No formal policies have been put in place in order to hedge the
Group and Gompany's activities to the exposure to currency risk or interest risk; however, the Board will consider this
periodically. No derivatives or hedges were entered inte during the year.

The Group and Company is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:
. Credit risk

. Market risk (includes cash flow interest rate risk and foreign currency risk)

. Liquidity risk

The policy for each of the above risks is deseribed in.more detail below.

The principat financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instruments risk arises are as follow:

. Receivables

. Cash and cash equivalents

. Trade and other payables (excluding other laxes and social security) and Joans
- Available for sale investments

The table below sets oul the camying value of all financial instruments by category and where applicable shows the
valuation level used to determine the fair value at each reporting date. The fair value of all financial asséts and
financial liabiliies is not materially different to the book value.

2019 2018 2019 2018
Group Group Company Company
- $°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents e 569 1,300 218 208
Receivables : 2,537 5406 - 361 93
Loans {o Group Companies - - 34,568 25179
Available for sale financial assets
Available. for sale investments (vatuation level 1) - 13 - 3
Other liabilities
Trade and other payables (excl. short term loans) 3.470 7.559 768 320
Loans and borrowings 5,519, 26,966 309 -
Credit risk

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group and the Company to concantrations of credit risk, consist

principally of cash, short-term deposits and other. receivables. Cash balances are all held at recoghised fingncial
institutions. Other receivables are presented net of allowances for doubtful receivables. Other recewables cunently
form an insignificant part of the Group’s and the Company's businéss and therefore the credit risks associated with
them are also insignificant lo the Group and the. Company as a whale.

The'Company has a credit risk in frespect of inter-company foans to subsidiarics. The recoverability of these balances
is dependenl on the commercial vxabuhly of the exploration activities undertaken by lLhe respéclive subsidiary
vompanies. The credit risk of these loans is managed as the durectors constantly monitot and assess the viability arid
quality of the respective subsidiary's investments in intangible mining assets.

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The Group's maximum exposuré o credit risk by category of financial instrument is shown in the table below:



Cash and cash equivalenis
Receivables

‘The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial instrument is shown in the fable below:

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivablés,
Loans to Group Companies

Markel risk
Cash flow mteresl rate risk

2019 2019 2018 2018
Carrying  Maximum Carrying  Maximum
value  exposure value  exposure.
$°000 $°000 5'000 $'000°
569 1,620 1,300 1,817
2537 10,454 5,406 *6,941
2019 2019 2018 2018
Carrying  Maximum Carrying  Maximum
value  exposure vajue  exposure
$000 $'000 $°000 $'000
218 8,964 208 1.663
361 342 93 1,540
34,568 36,237 25179 40,132

The Group has adopted a non-speculative policy on managing interest rate risk. Only approved- financial institutions
with s6und capital bases. are used to borrow furids and for the investments of surplus funds.

The Group and the Company seeks to obtain a favourable interest rale on ils cash balances thfough {he use of bank
deposits. At the reporting date. the Group hdd a cash balance of $0. 569 million (2018; $1. 400 million} which-was

made up as follows:

Sterling

United States Dollar
Euro

Lei {(Romania)
Zimbabwe Doflar

2019 2018
Group Group
$'000 $'000
218 106
205 1,131
- 1
31 82
115 -
569 1,300

At the reporting date, the Company had a cash balance of $0.218 million (2018: $0.208 million) which was made up

-as follows:

Sterling

United States Doltar
Euro

Lei (Romania)

2019 2018
Company Company
$'000 $'000

218 106
- 102

218 208

The Group had infefest beanng debts al the current year end of US$ 5. 330 mnlllon (2018 ‘USS. 9 464.-milfion). These

,’are made up. as follows

.Secured long-term loans:
"Secured shon-kerm loans
.Unsecured Ioans

-Bank 0vetdraft

These Ioans are repayable as follows:
- Wrthm 4 year
- Between 1 and, 2 yeafb

ln more than 2 years

Interest

rate

9.4%

2%

6%
12%

2018 2018 2019 2018
Group Group Company Company
$'000 '$'000 $'000 - $'000
4,043 8, 149 - -
978 )
309 ) 309
- 1315 - -
5,330 10,464 308 -
1,287 : 2,000 309 -
4,043 -3,867 - -
- 3,797 . -
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Borrowings of USS 4 million carry a floating interest rate with the remainder having fixed rates. An increase in interest
tates of 1% would increase the annual finance expense by US$ 40,000.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange fisk is inherent in the Group's and the Company's activities arid is accepted as such, The majority
of the Group’s expenses are denominated in United States Dollars and therefore foreign currency éxchange risk
arises where any balance is held, or costs incurred, in currencies other than United States Dollars. At 30 Aprit 2019
and 31 March 2018, the currency exposure of the Group was as follows:

Sterling  US Dollar Euro Other Total
At 30 April 2019 $°000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents 218 205 - 146 559
Trade and other receivables 162 387 - 1.989 2,537
Trade and other payables {320) (902) - (2.271) (3.493)
Available for sale investmenis - . - - -
At 31 March 2018
Cash and cash equivalents 106. 1,131 1 62 1,326
Trade and other receivables i4 4,026 - 1,366 5,960
Trade and other payables (258) (3.248) {42) (4,013) (7.539)
Avaitable for sale investments - 13 - - 13

The effect of 2 10% strengthening of Steding against the US dollar at the. repomng date, all other variables held
constant, would have resulted in decreasing post tax losses by $5,852 (2018: $13,527 decrease). Conversely the
effect of & 10% weakcmng of Sterling against the US doflar at the reporting date, all other variables held constant,
would have resulted in increasing post tax losses by $5,952 (2018: $13,527 decrease)

At 30 Apnl 2019 and 31 March 2018, the currency exposure of the Company.vas as follows:

Sterling  US Dollar Euro Other Total

At 30 April 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Cash and cash equivalents 218 - - - 218
Trade and othér receivables 137 943 - - 1,080
Loans to Group companies 34,568 - 34,568
Trade and other payables (320} (470) - - {(790)
Avaitable for sale investments - - - -
At 31 March 2018

Cash and ¢ash equivalents 106 102 - - 208
Qther receivables 14 79 - - 93
Loans to Group companies 1,286 22,686 1,207 . 25179
Trade and other payables {258) (82) - . (340)
Available for sale invastments - 3 - . 3

Liquidity risk
Any borrowing facililies are negotiated with approved financial institutions at acceptable interest rates. All asseis and

liabilities are ‘at fixed and floaling interest rate. The Group and the Company seeks.to manage its financial risk lo.
ensure that sufficient liquidity is available to meet the foreseeable needs both in the short and long term. See alss’

references i Going Concem disclosures in the Strateglc Report on page 9.

As set out in Note 18, of the consolidated trade and other-payables balance of $2.226 mﬂl»on $7,302 milfion.is due
for payment within .60 -days of the reporting date. The malurity. profite of interest bearing debts are. h|ghl:ghted above.

Capital

The objective of the Directors is t6 maximisé-shareholder retums and minimise risks by keeping a reasonable balance:

between debt and equity. In. prewous years the Company and Group has minimised risk by being purely” equity
financed. In lhe current year, the Group has assumed debl risk but bas kept: the net debt amounl as low as possible,
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The Group’s debt to equity ratio is 93:4% (2018: 145.7%),
calculated as follows:

Loans and borrowings
Less! cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Total equily

Debt to capital ratio (%)

21 Share captital

As at 31 March 2017

Issued during the year *
As at 31 March 2018

Issued during the year

-

As at 30 Apnl 2019

Apr 2018 viar 2018
$000°s $'000

5519 26,966

(569) (1.300)

4,950 25,666

5,302 7,614

93.4% 145.7%

Ordinary 0.1p Deferred 0.9p
Nominal Nominal Share
No of shares value No of shares value premium

4,663,404,459 8,570 863,562,664 12,850 74.802
461.882,523 620 - - 2,435
5,125,286,982 7.190 863,562,664 §2.850 77,237
2,819,884,329 3,662 - - 4,448
7,945171,311 10,852 863.,562,664 12,850 81,685

* Details of the shares issued during the year are as shown in the table below and in the Statement of Changes -of
Equity on pages 25-26.

There were no shares reserved for issue under share options at 30 April 2019 (2018: nil).

The deferred shares carry no rights to dividends or to paricipale in any way in the income or profits of the Company.
They may recelve a retum of capital equal to the amount paid up on each deferred share after the ordinary shares
have received a return of capital equal tothe amount paid up on each ordinary share plus £10,000.000 on each
ordinary share, but no further right to participate in the assets of the Company. The Company may, subject to the
- Statuies, acquire all or any of the deferred shares at any time for no consideration. The deferred shares carry no

votes.

The ordinary shares carry all the rights riormally attributed 16 ordinary shares in 2 company subject to the rights of the

deferred shares,

See also Note 27 on page 61 for details of share issues after the reporting date.

Date of issue

2018
4 Apr 17
1Jdun 17
14 Jun 17
26 Jul 17
9 Qct 17
17 Oct 17
27 Qct 17

300ct 17

1 Nov 17
3 Nov 17
21 Nov 17
21 Nov 17
27 Nov 17

6 Dec 17
11 Dec 17
"13 Dec 17
22bec 17
28 Dec 17

No of shares

6,116

20,000,000

51,386
225,017
2,228
2112
1,061,060

183,180

265,161

36,794,

190,476,190
1,000,000

807,018,

382 062

234,261,876
123,553

1,250,956
163,147

Issue
price
(pence)

0.5
0.5
0.5

‘05
0.5
0.5
0.5
0.5,
05
05

0.525
0.5
0.5
0.5

0.525
0.5
0.5
0:5

" Purpose of issue

Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise of open offer wamants
Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise-of open offer wamants.

.Exerase of open offer warrants
‘Exercise of- open offer warrants

Exercise of open offer warrants
Issued for cash to Investors

Exercise of open offer-wamants
Exercise of open offer warrants
Exerciseé of open offer warrants

QOpen offer to existing Shareholders

Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise of open offer warrants
Exercise of open offer warrants
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30 Jan 18 «541 204, O_Ss _Exercme of open offer warrants'

1 Feb A8 . 5 799 0.5, Exer_ase of open offer warrants
22Feb 18 8,000, 000 0.5) 'Exércise of ¢ open ‘offer warrgnts
k) Mar 18 137,664, 05: Exercusc of open offer warrants
23 Mar 18 i i3,000,000° 05 Exeruse of open offer w.zn-ants

.- $461,882523.

2019

_..5 Apf 201 8_ '0.5  EXercis of open offer warrants.
< L ;‘(_1.5 isé of open 1 offer, wsrrantSz

‘513'456' ‘0.5 Ex. csse of open offer warrantst

'300,000{ 0.5 Exercisé of opén offer warranis:

e539 280,.: 0.5° Exerase ‘of open offer. warranis:
, 78701 . 05° Exerase of open offer warranis.

; 1238, 095 238 ¢ 0 525. Ptac:ng

: 24 ul 2018 2,426640% - 705’ Exéicise, of open offer warrants

2'Aug 2018 ,/400,000

A 05‘ Exercuae of opcn offer warrants
7.Aug 2018 1,384,087+ Cise! (@rants’

58 Aug 2018 3,00 e Exercase of dpen offer warrants

29 Aug 2018 " Ti4,043%  °-05% Exerdise "of open offer warrants

29 Aug 2018 , Subscnp[‘on .

29 Sep 201 8 5F Exercxse of open oﬁer warrants

12 Oct 2018 . 0.5 Exermse of open offér. warrants

16 0ct 2018 ; Exerclse of open offer warrants

1802018  70.847,785¢ - . 0.6, Piacing. '
180c12018 (16,666,666, = ', 067 Exercise of penoffer varanits

2Nov2018  +188 679.245; 53¢ Placing: 2

Te 42,

5'Déc 2018 11.:3 810~ T Exercise of open ofrer warraqis
7.De¢ 2018, 576,835 0.5} Exércise’of open offer wairants
18 QE,C,2018/ '68 000 000‘ . Subscnptpon {Bergen gonyemble secunly)
4 Jan 2019° 3.7 K Exerctse of open ofier warrants
“1 8 Jan 2019
4 Feb 2019

¢

20197
e Fab 2019,
“13'Feb 2019;
4 Mdl 20}9 é
x4 Mar 2019 B
12 Aprzmg
12'Apt 5019, :
12Apr20187 129,629,630 hSubscnpnon
2819884.320...
fDrrectors and Mahagement f nanpmg agreernent e e s e

the :regtprs of the. Company. togcther with certam sen
Asubscrlbed an aggreg te_ amount of Eo 5 mrlllon for new{ordmary shares of, 0.1 p eech in

T T

one"warrant ror r.each, hare i |ssued‘ these warrants cam/t&n entltlement erlh
to"

a LTI,

' ';,exercnse 62 500,000 new Ordlnary Shares v wcrx.f

ussued by the Company together wnth 62 500 000 warrams
o

e o »1 .,-u .\avr

e
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Existing shareholders financing agreement ]
As reported in the report for the year to 31 March 2016, on 4 March 2016 the Company entered into an agreement
with a number of existing’ shareholders (the “Inveslors®) for {heir subscription for up to £0.8 million, on simitar terms

“as those agreed with the Dnrec:tors and Management, detailed above, A total of 180,211,632 shares were subscribed

for in addition, 190,211,632 warrants were issued.

Al 31 March 2018 there remained 6,613,756 warrants unexercised by these- investors. None of these have been
exercised in the current year and all remain unexercised at 30 April 2019, The'last dale for exercise is 31 March 2021.

Share based payments

Equity — settled share-based payments
The Company has granted share options and wanrants to Directors, staff and consultants,

In June 2015, the Company also esfablished a Share Appreciation Scheme f{o incentivise Diféclors and senior
execulives. The basis of the Scheme is to grant a fixed number of ‘share appreaahon fights’ (SARs} to participanits.
Each SAR is credited rights 1o receive at the dlscrenon of the'‘Company ordinary shares in the Company or cash to a
valug of the. dlfference in the value of a share at the date of exercise of rights and the value af date of grant. The
SARS are subject to various performance conditions.

The tables below reconcile the opening and closing number of SAR's in issue at each reporting date:,

Exercise  Inissueat Issued during Lapsed during Exercised Inissueat. Final exercise

price 31 March 2018 year year during year. 30-April 2019 date

Options
0.3p: . - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 March 2022
0.45p 5,000,000 - - - 5000000 June 2020
0.5p 50,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 48,000,000 March 2022
0.5p 50,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 48,000,000 March 2023
0.7p ‘24,500,000 - (24.500,000) - - March 2019
0.7p 28,500,000 - - - 28,500,000 March 2020

159,000,000 20,000,000 (29,500,000) - 149,500,000

Exercise. ‘Inissueat Issued during Lapsed during Exercised In.issue at Final exercise
price 31 March 2017 year year during year 31 March 2018 _date

Options -
0.45p 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 June 2020
0.5p - 50,500,000 - 50,500,000 March 2022
0.5p -~ 50,500,000 - 50,500,000 Msrch2023
07p 56,500,000 - (32,000,000) - 24500000 March 2019
0.7p 40,500,000 - (12,000,000) - 28500,000 March 2020

97,000,000 106,000,000 (44,000,000) 159,000,000

The-tables below reconcile the opemng and closmg number of share:oplions and warrants in issue at.each réporting
date:

55



Exercise Inissue at Issued during Lapsed during  Exercised Inissue at”  Final exercise

price 31 March 2018 year year during year 30 April 2019 date
Warrants '
0.4p. 5,425,000 - - - 5425000 October 2019
05p 547:274,243° - - (18,270103) 529,004,140 ggfgi"b.er
variable 14,583,250 - - - 14,583,250  January 2021
varable 6,613,756 - - - 8613756 March 2021
573,896,249 - - (18,270,103) 555.626.146
variable: 565,000,000 . - . 565,000,000 See note’
1,138,986.249° - - (18.270,03) 1,120,626,146

*Extended from Juné 2019

Exercise: Inissueat Issued dunng Lapsed during” Exercised In‘issue at Final exercise

price  31'March 2017 year yéar during yeat 31 March 2018 date-
Warrants
“0.4p 5,425,000 - - - 5425000 October.2019
.0.5p 6,659,903 - - (6:659.903) - December 2017
0.5p 564,418,700 - - {17,144,457) 547,274,243 June 2019,
"0.5p 13,340,097 - - (13,340,097) - Deécember 2017
variable 14,583,250 - - . < 14:583.250° January 2021
. variabie 6:613,756 - I - . 6513,756° March 2021
: 611,040,706 . - {37,144,457) 573,896,249
' variable - 565,000,000 _ - 565,000,000 Seenote.
611,040,706 565,000,000 - (37.144,457) 1,138,896,249

Note: These warrgnts are anly cxcrm able in the event of a default i in repayment of {he Mercuna ‘Tranche A'prg-paymént off-lake
*faczluty of USS 4,500,000 (Mefcuna Warra nts)

22019 " 2018
Weighted Weighted
average -average.
‘éxefcise ‘Number®  eXercise  'Number
_ptice: price
(p_cncc) {pence)
Ouitstanding.at the'beginning of the year 0.44 732,896,249, 043 708,040,706
Granted during the year 4 0.30: ~20.000,000" 0.50 106,000,000
Lapsed dunng the. year 044, ;(47 779 103). 075  (44.000,000)
Exercised during thengar : - '('18 270, 103)‘ - 37114 457
Qutsténding at the'end of the year 0:45 586,856,043 1044 732,896,249
Exergisable at thiz end of the yéar, 0.43: 613,856,043 Al 701.040.706:

The wmghied avergge remaining lives. ‘of the SARs share. ophén° or warrr—\nts ou!standmg al the end of the period is -
34 nfh's:_(2018:422 'r'n'dnth's). Of . th’e 688, 56 043 SARs,,opnons and warrants outslandmg at-30 Aﬁr_ 2019
(2018 732,896; 249). 613,856,043 (2018 701 040 706) dre; fuily vested |n the holders and are exerclsable ‘at that
daie

Falr value of share options
The falr values of share ophons ‘and Warrants gr ted” have béen- calculated usnng the Black Scholes pncmg model i

which takes into, account factors Specific ‘to-share incentis




dividend yield of the Company's shares and the estimated volatility of those shares, Based onthe above assumptions,
the fair values of the options granted are estimated 1o be:

Share Share Risk
Option or price at free
Grant Warrant Ve:;ting date of Life Dividend inferest Fair
date Value periods grant Volatility (years) yield rate value
Apri6  varable Mar-21 0.240p 135% 5.00 il 15%  .2055p
Juk16  variable Mar-21 0.360p 135% 5.00 nit 1.5%  .3082p
Jul-16 0.5p Jun-18 0.316p 76% 411 nil 0.63%  0.5870p
Aug-16 0.5p Jun-19 0.265p 76% 4.01 nil 0.34%  0.0522p
Aug-16 0.5p Jun-19 0.290p 76% 397 nil 0.34%  0.0664p
QOct-16 variable Mar-21 0.2809 135% 5.00 nit 1.5% 0.2397p
Oct-16 0.4p Oct-19 0.320p 76% 3.97 ail 0.18% 0.1012p

Volatility has been based on histatical share price information. A higher rate of volatility is used when determining the
falr value of certain options in order to reflect {he special conditions attached thereto.

Based on the above fair values the expense -arising from equity-seitled share options and warrants made was
$263,967 (2018: $26,747), ’ ’

Cash-settled share-based payments )

The Directors of the Company had set up an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) in which-a number of employees and
directors were participants (the ‘Participanis’). The EBT held shares on behalf of Participants until such time as those
Participanis exercised their right to require the EBT to sell the shares. On the sale of the shares ihe Participants
would have received the appreciation of the value in the shares above the market price on the daié that the shares
‘were purchased by the EBT, subject to the first 5% in growih in the share price, on an annual compound basis, being
retained by the EBT. The Participants were to pay 0.01p per share to acquire their rights. '

In view of the large reduction in the Company's share pricé since the EBT was set up, the value of the rights of the
Pariicipants under the EBT has become negligible, and accordingly the EBT has been terminated by the sale of the
shares and the application of the sale proceeds in repayment of the loan by The Company to the EBT.

In the gvent of an increase in the Company-‘s share price to a figure substantially in excess of 6p, the Company would
have a fiability to Participants equal to the rights that the Participants would have had under the EBT.

The EBT rights of Participants.are set out ini the table below,

Outstanding  Exercised Lapsed Granted Outstanding Date
Exercise at31March  duringlast duringLast  during last  -at 30 April exercisable
price 2018 13 months 13 months 13 months. 2019 from
8.75p 6,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 July 2010
8.75p 6,000.000 - - - 8,000,000 July 2014
8.00p 2,500,009 - - - 2,500,000 August 2011
9.00p 2,500,000 - - . 2,500,000  August2012
6.00p 7,750,000 - - - 7,750,000  August 2012
6.00p 7,750,000 - - - 7,750,000  August 2013
32,500,000 - - - 32,500,000

As at 30 April 2019 a total of 32,500,000 of the EBT participation rights were exercisable.
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‘price
t_3 75p
:_8-7;5;3
9.00p
9.00p
6.00p
6.00p

‘Outstanding  Exercised | Lapsed Granted ~ Outstanding Date
Exercise at 31 March dunng Iast during Last:  during, last’ -at 31 March -exercisable
2017 12months 12 months 12 months’ 2018 from
6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 .July 2010
6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 “July.2011
2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 -August 2071
2,500,000 - - . 2,500,000 'August 2012
7,750,000 - - - 7,750,000 August2012
7,750,000 - - - 7.750,000 -August 2013
32,500,000 R - - 32,500,000

As at 31 March 2018'a

Fair valug of Partlmpants' nghts
‘The. faif values of the nghts granted to_participarits-under the EBT have. been calculatéd using a Black Scholes

valuahon model Based on the.aSSumphons set out in the table below, as well as the ilmltaUOn on the growth in share

total of 32,500,000 of the EBT participation-rights were exercisable.

price alinbutable to the partlcvpants {as set outin the table above} the 1air- values are estxmated to- be

Rights exercisable from:

Grarit.date

Validity.of granl

Vesting pe

riods

Share price at tate of grant

Volatility
Dividend y

ield

Risk free investment.rate

Fairvalye

Jul 2010
Aug 2009

10 years
Aug ; 2009 -
312010

8:75p

51%.
Nil

0.65%

Nil

Jul 2011
'Aug 2009
10 years
Aug 2009:-
Jul 2011

8.75p

51%

Nil

.0.65%

Nil

Aug 2011
Oct 2010
10 years
Oct 201 0-
Aug 2011
3 00p
51%
Bl
0.65%

Nil

Aug 2012, -Aug 2012
Oct2010  Sep 2011
10years ‘10 yeais
Ocl 2010- Sep 20114~
Aug 2012 Aug2012

9.00p 6.00p

51% 51%:
Nii it

0.65% 0.65%
Nil Nil

‘Aug 2013 *
«Sep2011
10 years'
'Sep 201 1-
Aug 2013
+6.00p
5] %
i
-0.65%

Nit

* The Group has reoorded habnmes in respect of the Parlicipants’ nghts of $nil and $ml in 2018 and201 9, Falr value is.
determmed by usmg the- Black.Scholes modet using | lhe assumphons noted in lhe above \able The Group recorded
toral expenses of Sl and $n|l i 2018 and 2018, respectrvely, The totat mtnnsxc value Bt 31 De(.emher 20 8and 2019

was $nit and $nil; reSpectwely

Volatility hasbeen ca,lcula,ted by reference lo-historical share price information.

Warrant and Share option expense:

_value 2Of. the shiarés.

2019 2018
Group Group .
$'000 $'000;
Warrant ‘and share option’expense:
- Inrespect of remuneralion contracts ;264 27
- Iy respect of fin nancmg arrangemenls - "
Tolal expense / (credll) 2§4 i27
23 Reserves
Details of the natare and purpose of each reserve within owners' equity are:provided below:
. Share capital represents thie nominal value at0.1p each of"ithe ’sﬁa’res‘ inissue,
¢ Share’ prermum repsesents the balance of. consideration.received net’ ‘of fund ralsmg costs’in excess Of the par
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The share options reserve represents the accumulated balance of share benefit charges recognised in respect
of share options granted by the Company, less transfers to retained losses in respect of options exercised or
lapsed.

The foreign currency translation reserve represenls  amounts arising on the translation of the Group -and
Company financial statements from Sterling to United States Dollars, as set out i in the Statement of Accounting
Policies on page 32, prior to the change in functional currency to United States Dollars, together with
cumulative foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the Financial Statements of foreign
subsidiaries; this reserve is not distributable by way of dividends.

The available for sale reserve represents the gains/(losses) arising on recognising financial assets classified
2 available for sale.at fair value.

The retained deficit reserve represents the cumulative nei gains and losses recognised in the Group statement

of comprehensive income,

Non-controliing Interests

The non-contrélling interests (NCI) tn Dallaglio Investments (Privale) Limited and its subsidiaries, together with the.
NCI in Ronquil Enterprises (Private) Limited, were de-recognised on the disposal of the Group's interests in both -

Companies, as more fully set out in Note 13.

African, Consolidated Resources SRL is an 80% owned ‘subsidiary of the Company whu:h also has an NCI, This
follows the merger of this company with Mineral Mining in February 2016.

Sumimarised financial information for these three entilies, before intra-group eliminations, is presented below togethér

with amounts attributable to NCI:

Daltaglio African Ronquil
fnvestments  Consolidated Enterprises’
4 Resources (Private) Total NCI
subsidiaries SRL Limited

For the period ended 30 Apiil 2019 $000's $000's $000's $000’s
Revenue 31,243 418 - 31.661
Cost of sales (18,527} . (219) - (18,746)
Gross Profit (loss) 12,716 199 - 12,915
" Overhead expenses {750 (1,764) (17) (2,531)
Operating profit (loss) 11,966 {1,565) (17} 10,384
Finance expense {1.012) (3) - (1,018)
L oss before tax 10,954 . {1,568) (17) 9,369
Tax expense / credit {1,408) ‘ - - (1,408)
Profit (loss) after tax 9,546 {1,568) (17) 7.961
Total comprehensive profit (loss) . 4
allocated to NCI 7,155 (293) {9 6,853
Cagh flows from operating aclivities 13,226 (574) - 12652
Cash fiows from investing aclivities (13,575) {1.690) - {15,269)
Cash flows from financing activities 1,985 2,264 - 4,249
Net cash inflows/{outflows) 1,636 - - 1,636
As at 30 April 2019 $000°s -$000°s ‘$000's $000's

Assets: ‘
Property plant and equipment - 7125 : 7.125
Inventory - 8. - 8
Recéivables - -830 - 830
Liabilities: - -
Loans and other borrowings - 700 - 700
Trade and olher payables - 1,479 - 1,479
Accumulated non-controlling interests - (a1) - (41)
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African

Ronquil

oy Sinarom ;
Dallaglio and Consolidated o Enterprises
subsidiaries Resources G':’('}'L‘;"g A (Private) Total NCt
SRL Limited

For the year ended 31 March 2018 $000's $000's $000’s $000's $000°'s
Revenue 27,590 664 3,098 - 31,352
Costofsales {19,114) - (4,298) - {23,412)
Gross Profit {foss) 8,475 664 (1.200) - 7,939
Administrative expenses {1.567) (653) (1.514) - {3,734)
Operating profit (loss) 6,908 11 (2,714) - 4,205
Finance expense (419) (1) {10} (21) (451)
Loss before tax 6,489 10 (2,724) (21) 3,754
Tax expense / credit (3,794) - - . (3.784)
Profit (1oss) after tax 2,695 10 (2,724) 1) {40)
Total comprehensive profit (foss) . : ;
allocated to NCI 1702 3 125 (10) 1.820
Cash flows from operating aclivities 5964 {1,720 1,105 - 5.369
Cash flows fror invesling activities (6.180) (1.023) (2,036) - {8. 249)
Cash flows from financing aclivities - 2,745 1,663 - 4,408
Net cash inflows/{outflows) (2086) 2 732 - 528
As at 31 March 2018 $000's $000's $000’s $000's $000's
Assels: :

Intangible assets - L) - - &)
Property plant and equipment 15,908 6,501 5,184 - 27,580
Investment in joint venturé -569 - - - 559
Inventory - 2,883 12 1,094 - 3,989
Recejvables 4,302 845 521 25 5,693
Cash and cash equivalents 272 3 763 - 1.038
Liatifities: ) . X
Loans and other borrowings 4,730 8,719 12,487 - 25936
Trade and other payables 2,336 833 2,572 - 5,743
Deferced tax liability 3,330 - - - 3.330
Provisions 877 - 521 - 1,398
‘f\ocumulated non-controlling 20.348 252 ) 2447 23.047
inierests

25 Related party transactions

Company and group
Directors and key management emoluments are disclosed in notes 8 and 7.

Group
The pon-controlling interest in African Consolidated Resources SRL, where 20% of the shareholding of the subsidjary

is held by third parties (the "AP Group") consisting as to a majorily of a director and senior executives of the. group

namely:
Roy Tucker (Oirector) 2%
Andrew Prelea (Director) 8%
Senior Romanian management 2%
Non-related parly ' 8%

At the reporting date, there was an amount owing by African Consolidated Resources SRL to the AP Group of $91,656
{2018: $165,399). Al the reporting date, there was an amount owing by African Consotidated Resources, SRL to the
individual refated members of theé AP Group, totalling $65.606 (2018 $78,348).

At the reporting date, there was an amount owing by Afiican- Consolidated Resources: SRL to Ozone Homes SRL
(Ozone) of US$ 9,568 (2018: US$16,727) in respect of transactions undertaken by Ozone in 2014, Ozone is a
company contraliéd by Andrew Prelea, the Group CEO and senior Group executive in Romania.

During the year, the company had a sewice coritract with Roy Tucker to provide office premises and associated
seriices olalling USS 25,420 including VAT.
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26 Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
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Capital commitments

The Group acquired an effective 28.41% economic interest (hrough EMA Resources Ltd (EMA’) in a brewn field
perimeter in the “Golden Quadrilateral’ of Western Romania on which historic work has demonstrated prospectivity
for gold @nd polymetallic minerals. The Group is undertaking exploration on behalf of the perimeter owners with a
view to establishing a JORC resource sufficient to juslify an independent IPO, To date the Group has arranged US$
1 million third party finanéing on behalf of the venture in the f6rm of convertible debt to fund a dnumg and assay
programme, This programrme is underway and is anticipated to.deliver sufficient information to support an Inferred
JORC Mineral Resource for gotd and other polymetaliic minerals including silver, copper, lead and zinc in one or more
of several distinct breccia pipes.

Of the US$ 1 million convertitle funding, the Company has committed to repay USS 750,000 1o & convertible debt
investor in EMA Resources Limited (EMA’) (the owner of the Blueberry Project) on 31% December 2019.in the event
the investor elects not to convert into shares in EMA, Such an event might arise if the assay results are unsatisfactory
and / of the planned 190 af EMA has not laken place. As explained in more detal in the Strategic Report: current
indications are that the assays are encouraging and it is anticipated that the project will continue to support the
necessary third-party financing.beyond 31 December 2019 and to the conclusion of the drilling and assay programme,

Events after the reporting date

Exercise of warrants
Wairants were exercised, and shares issued, as follows:

Date Warrants Shares

‘ . exercised issued
21 June 2019 ' 1,221 1,224
7 August 2018 ) 244 244

Warrant security to Mercuria

Pursuani 1o the terms of the Warrant Instrument between the Company and Mercuria dated 13 March 2018, warrants
were issued to Mercuria'to subscribé for shares in the Company up to a further aggregate nominal amount of
£1,750,000 (in addition to the existing warrants to subscribe lor.shares in the Company for a nominal amount of
£565,000 already granted in connection with the \Warrant Instrument). These warrants have been issued to Mercuiia .
as security for the-Tranchie A advance of US$4,500.000 undet the Mercuna Pre-payment Agreement and are orily
exercisable in the event of a default thereunder.

Share placings and subscriptions
On 30 May the Company announced that.it had raised, in aggregate, £900,000 before costs through'a placing of

775,862,068 ordinary shares of 0.1p in the Company at a price of 0.116p per share.

On 8 August the Company announced that it had raised, in aggregate, £655,000 (£625,000 after costs) through a
placing of 595,454,545 ordinary shares of 0.1p in the Company at a price of 0. 11p per share. The Subscription was
undértaken by a new institutional investor, to whom it has been agreed to issue 17 :000,000 warrants to subscribe for
Ordinary Shares in the Company.at.an exercise price of 0.13p per share and 17,000,000 warrants at an éxeicise
price of 0.15p per.share. All warrants will expire on 8 August 2022.

Historical diamond claims
The Company announoed on 26 September that it had settled its historical claims by mutuat consent and that the
Company would update the malter further as this matter progressed.

Chiadzwa Community joint venture
The Company announced.on 26 Septernber that it had. signed-a Join! Venture Agreemerit with a company designated
to represent the Chiadzwa Community in relation to the Chiadzwa Diamond Concession in Zimbabwe.

Corporate broker .
On 5 August 2019 the Company was informed 1hat one of its joint corporate brokers, SVS Securities plc, had been
placad into Special Administration,
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28 ‘Group subsidiaries
. PR L e
el A L TIER (32N TSR T G R Ty
¢A full lisl of all subsidiary, companies and theur’-ragustere;j offices i glvven‘bplqw:f
T Country of ! Reg., o e
iCompany regnstratlon offce Group Interest iNature of business’

P
note. 12018 {2017

“Afiican Consohdated Resources SRL. Romania; 1 QD‘_‘A 80%, Mining development
Afncan Consolidated Resources PTC Ltd > BVI 3 Wil inil Nominee company
eckridge Investments (anate) Lumuted Zlmbabwe* 5 u ; ¢25.05%. Mining P roduclnon
esiments (anate) lerted mebabwe‘ 5 100%  100% . Cliaim holding.
Canape “nv"' Lmems (anate) leﬂed Zimbabwe;, 6 Rt 100% Mln{nginvcsbnent
 Mi i Ztmbabwe 8 100% 100% Claim holding’ _
.Dallag |o Investments (anatc) lelled Zlmoabwe‘ 5 " 32§._Q§_% Hoiding Company, for , .
) e Breckridge: Investmems
' s (anate) Lirmited
'Dashaloo lnvesiments (Prwde) Limned ambabwe 6 60% 100% . C!e:m holdmg
Exchequer Mrmng Servnces(Prlvate) leded Z«mbabwe, 8. 100% 100%, QI mholdlng
Flsherman Mmmg erlted o Zambia- 7 .49, 6% 1100% 5 \Mmmg eXploratJon Bnd
) L developmenl
Heavystuﬁ Investment Company (anate) Y_Z__imb_apg}yg;g 6~ 100% JOO% 'Clalm ho!dlng
Lirhited e
Inve stmients (anate) Limited Zimbabwe 5 i 25 os% Clalm holdmg
Limited Zimbabwe.  5¢  100% .100% Claim halding
j ited vZumbabwc, 51 UL 2508%: Claim hordm'g
Lomile Investmenis (Private) Limited: Z i 5y A00% 100%,_, : ]
Lotaven lnvestments (anate} Limited ! Zlmbabwe 5" - Yo
Mayback lnvestmenls (F’nvatc) ernxted Ambabwe 5 -
Mlllwall lnternahonal Investments Limited _E})/I _3 100% 100%;" Holdmg company
Moorestown lelted T BVI 3. 100% , [100% mrung efqlpramn and
, L S development
, Mystlcal Mmlng (anate) erlted N Zimbabwe: 6! i00%, 7100%, Cla:m hoidmg

Naxien Invésiments (Rrivate) Limited Zimbabwe, 6 100%" 100% . ’Asset holding
vaola Mlnmg (anale) Limited Zimbabwe 161 2. 25.05% ‘Claim holdmg‘
ébi $(P néaié)’umned Zimbabwe;  6{  100%: "100% " Claim’t holding
)| Zmbabwc & 100%, A00%: |
Zimbabwe; 8% J00%¢ 100%: Claim holdmg
anbapw{e ’:é ¢ t
Zlmbab(vé 6" ol '50 01%:3 Holdmg compary,

87 - 100% (100% Clgim hoiding

t
SchontMmmg Serwces (anale) Lumrted 1-H .100%4 ,~100%’ Claam holdmg

Smaram Mmmg Group SRL’ 2,
4 100y 150,
: \4: 1'.'.9.0.}{?‘ ;109%‘, 'Mlmng mvestment
‘érnbabwe’, 81 100%:  '100%- Mmmgmvestment
Zimbsbive 8 A00%: 100%; ‘Dormant
). L Zlmbab\alte '>§% : Qgrﬂanh
Campstar Mmmg (anate) lelted 1y ZZL’P,‘,’.? ve: 61 Doim_ant
gnaperon Manufaclunng (Prwate)}nm;ted; Zumbabwe :5: ’Q_onnanl?
an g (Private) Linted; %, {Domnarit
/8 %! Dormant’
-6,
16
6!
® -
: _ 16, 4100%' / Dormai
Katanga Mmmg (ana )L)rpnéd £Zumbabwe {6 '100% .Dor‘manpt
L
T - T w62
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Kengen Trading (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Kielty Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Lucciofa investment Services (Private) Limited  Zimbabwe
Malaghan Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Methven Investment Company (Private) Zimbabwe
Limited

tlimic Miring (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Monteiro Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Nedziwe Mining l(Privaie') Limited Zimbabwe
Notebridge Investments {Privaie) Limited Zimbabwe
Pickstone-Peerless Mining (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Prudent Mining (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Rania Haulage (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Regsite Mining Services (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Riberio Mining Services (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Swadini Miners (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Tamahine Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
The Salon Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Vono Trading (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Wynton Investment Company (Private) Limited  Zimbabwe
Zimchew Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe

: The company has effective control of this entity

*  Formerly AGR Nominees Lid,

Notes - Addresses of Registered offices:

Sat lacobeni,Str.Minelor Nr.20, Jud. Suceava, Romania
Str.@ Mai, Nr.20, Baia Mare, Jyd.Maramures. 430274 Romania '

[N e T R o)

PRAODDODDAN DO D

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Neérine Chambers, PO Box 806, Road Town, Tortols, British Virginistands

121 Borrowdale Road, Gun Hill, Haraie, Zimbabwe

1
2
3
4 Nettlestead Place, Nettiestead, Maidstone, Kent ME18 6HE, Unitéd'Kibg‘doén
) .
6 6, John Plagis Avenue, Alexandra Park, Harare, Zimbabwie

7

100% -

$00%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Suite 2, Diplomatic Centre, Mass Media, Off Alick Nkhata Road, Lusaka, Zambia

Dormant
Dormant
Dommant
Dormant
Dormant

Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormani
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
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